
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DUE TO THE ONGOING EMERGENCY CONCERNING THE 
COVID-19 VIRUS, PLANNING COMMISSION MEETINGS WILL 

BE CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THE GOVERNOR’S 
EXECUTIVE ORDER N-29-20 WHICH SUSPENDS CERTAIN 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT. 
 

RESIDENTS MAY OBSERVE THE MEETING REMOTELY VIA 
LIVESTREAM ON THE CITY WEBSITE OR ON SPECTRUM 

CABLE TV CHANNEL 3 AND FRONTIER CABLE TV 
CHANNEL 26  

 
FOR DETAILED INFORMATION ON HOW TO PARTICIPATE IN 
REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT PLEASE VISIT OUR WEBSITE 

AT: https://www.uplandca.gov/planning-commission 
OR CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT 909-931-4120 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ATTACHED 

https://videoplayer.telvue.com/player/m_3HX6961GRMsvkqSCdwmGeJ8rwpRZrR/stream/427?fullscreen=false&showtabssearch=true&autostart=false
https://www.uplandca.gov/planning-commission


1 

 
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION  

AGENDA 
 

March 25, 2020 at 6:30 PM 
Council Chambers 

  
ROBIN ASPINALL, CHAIR 

GARY SCHWARY, VICE CHAIR 
CAROLYN ANDERSON, COMMISSIONER 

SERGE MAYER, COMMISSIONER 
ALEXANDER NOVIKOV, COMMISSIONER 

PATRICK SHIM, COMMISSIONER 
YVETTE WALKER, COMMISSIONER 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL OF THE PLANNING       Chair Aspinall, Vice Chair Schwary, Commissioners  
COMMISSION Anderson, Mayer, Novikov, Shim and Walker 
 
PRESENTATION Presentation to outgoing Commissioner Linden Brouse 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES      February 26, 2020 
 
COUNCIL ACTIONS Robert D. Dalquest, Development Services Director   
 March 9, 2020, March 13, 2020 and March 23, 2020  
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS Mike Poland, Contract Planning Manager  
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
This is the time for any citizen to comment on any items that are not listed on the agenda under 
“Public Hearings” but within the Planning Commission’s purview. Anyone wishing to address the 
Planning Commission should submit a speaker card to the Planning Secretary prior to speaking. 
The speakers are requested to keep their comments to five (5) minutes. The use of visual aids 
will be included in the time limit. Under the provisions of the Brown Act, the Planning Commission 
is prohibited from taking action on items not listed on the agenda. 
 
 



2 

PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
1. PUBLIC HEARING FOR A PROPOSED AMENDMENT (DA 20-0002) TO 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT NO. DA 15-01 FOR “THE ENCLAVE AT UPLAND 
SPECIFIC PLAN”. 

 
Project Description: A proposed amendment to extend the term of Development 

Agreement No. 2015-01 for “The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan” for 
an additional one year period to July 27, 2021. 

 
Project Location: Property is bound by Foothill Boulevard to the north and 11th Street 

to south.  Dewey Way is located to the west and Central Avenue is 
located to the east. APN: 1007-051-02, 03, 04 and 1007-041-05, 06, 
and 07.  

 

STAFF:  Mike Poland, Contract Planning Manager 

APPLICANT:  
Adam Collier, Lewis Land Developers, LLC 
1156 N. Mountain Avenue 
Upland, CA 91784 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 

1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 
 

2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the 
public; and 

 

3. Find that the Project requires no further environmental 
review under the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 
15162 (Subsequent EIRs and Negative Declarations); 
and 

 

4. Move to adopt a Resolution recommending that the City 
Council approve the Amendment to Development 
Agreement No. 15-01 for The Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan thereby extending the term to July 27, 2021, as set 
forth in the draft resolution dated March 25, 2020; and   

 

5. Recommend that the City Council introduce an 
Ordinance approving the Amendment to The Enclave at 
Upland Specific Plan Development Agreement. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: Yes 

APPEAL PERIOD: None 
 
 
2. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP-19-0001, 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW NO. DPR-19-0002, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-19-0001, FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A 
NEW DRIVE-THROUGH RESTAURANT IN THE REGIONAL COMMERCIAL 
(RC) DISTRICT.  

 
Project Description: Request to establish a new 5,001 square foot drive-through 

restaurant (Chick-Fil-A) within the Mountain Green Shopping Center. 
 
Project Location: 335 S. Mountain Avenue. APN: 1008-131-04 and 1008-131-05.  



3 

 
 

STAFF:  Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
Kelsey WU 
PO Box 270571 
San Diego, CA 92198 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 

1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 
 

2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the 
public; and 

 

3. Find that the project is Categorically Exempt from 
environmental proceedings pursuant to Section 15332, 
Class 32, in that it consists of a project characterized as in-fill 
development per the California Environmental Quality Act 
Guidelines; and 

 

4. Move to adopt a Resolution approving Conditional Use 
Permit No. CUP-19-0001 and Development Plan Review 
No. DPR-19-0002, subject to conditions of approval as 
set forth in the draft resolution dated March 25, 2020. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: No 

APPEAL PERIOD: March 26, 2020 - April 6, 2020 

 
BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

1. A request for General Plan Conformity Determination to find if the disposition of City-Owned 
surplus land located at the southwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Interstate 210 and on 
the north side of Laurel Avenue (APNs: 1044-061-42, 43, 44 and 45), in regards to a 
potential in-fill development, conforms to the City of Upland’s General Plan.  Staff - Melecio 
Picazo, Economic Development Coordinator. 

 
COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourn to the next regular scheduled Planning Commission meeting on April 22, 2020. 
 

NOTICE TO PUBLIC: All maps, environmental information, and other data pertinent to this item are filed in the City of 
Upland Development Services Department and will be available for public inspection by appointment prior to the meeting 
at 460 North Euclid Avenue during normal business hours. To schedule an appointment, please call 931-4305. 
 

If you wish to appeal a decision of the Planning Commission, you must do so within ten (10) calendar days following the 
meeting. Please contact the Planning Division for information regarding the appeal procedure.  
 

If you challenge the public hearing(s) or the related environmental determinations, in court, you may be limited to raising 
only those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence 
delivered to the City of Upland, at or prior to, the public hearing.  
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the Planning Division at 931-4305. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make 
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. [28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II] 

POSTING STATEMENT:  On March 19, 2020, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, a true and correct copy of this 
agenda was posted at 460 N. Euclid Avenue (Upland City Hall), 450 N. Euclid Avenue (Upland Public Library), and the 
City’s website at www.uplandca.gov per Government Code Section 54954.2. 

 



Page 1 

 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION  

HELD WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
AT 6:30 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING  
 
Chair Aspinall called the Regular Meeting of the Upland Planning Commission to order in the Council Chambers of 
the Upland City Hall at 6:30 P.M. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The pledge of allegiance was led by Commissioner Anderson.  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Commissioners Anderson, Brouse, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and 

Chair Aspinall 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: None 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Development Services Director and Planning Commission Secretary Dalquest, 

Contract Planning Manager Poland, Assistant Planner Winter, Associate Planner 
Hong, Senior Administrative Assistant Davidson, Deputy City Attorney Shah 

 
APPROVAL/MINUTES   January 22, 2020 and February 12, 2020 
 
Chair Aspinall made corrections to the January 22, 2020 and February 12, 2020 meeting minutes. 
 
Moved by Vice Chair Schwary, to approve of the minutes of the Planning Commission meeting of January 22, 2020 
and February 12, 2020, as corrected.   
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Anderson.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote (5 – 0 – 1):  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Brouse, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:      None      ABSTAINED:    Commissioner Novikov 
 
ABSENT: None 
 
COUNCIL ACTIONS   Robert D. Dalquest, Development Services Director 
    February 10, 2020 and February 24, 2020 
 
Development Services Director Dalquest reported there was no Council action related to the Planning Commission 
at the February 10, 2020 City Council meeting.   
 
On February 24, 2020 Council approved the Starbuck's project by a 3 – 2 vote.   
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  Mike Poland, Contract Planning Manager 
 
Contract Planning Manager Poland discussed upcoming items to be considered by the Planning Commission 
including a proposed amendment to extend the length of time for the Development Agreement on Enclave at Upland 
specific plan; a Condition Use Permit for a proposed daycare within the existing building behind the 7-Eleven on 
Foothill Boulevard at Campus Avenue; a Conditional Use Permit for a Chick-fil-a Restaurant along with a drive-thru 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 2 

at the Mountain Green Shopping Center, and potentially a draft ordinance related to ADU regulations. 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Chair Aspinall stated this is the time for any citizen to comment on any items that are not listed on the agenda under 
“Public Hearings” but within the Planning Commission’s purview.  Anyone wishing to address the Planning 
Commission should submit a speaker card to the Planning Secretary prior to speaking. The speakers are requested to 
keep their comments to five (5) minutes. The use of visual aids will be included in the time limit. Under the provisions 
of the Brown Act, the Planning Commission is prohibited from acting on items not listed on the agenda.   
 
Roger Stephenson, LaVerne, spoke in support of denying the recommendation for the Site Plan No. 19-09 and Design 
Review No. 19-17 noting the size of the operation and van trips are grossly understated; indicated there is insufficient 
automobile parking for the vans and personal vehicles; addressed impacts from the number of van trips; felt that 
zoning has not been addressed correctly and noted inconsistencies within the documents.  
 
Steve Bierbaum, Upland, urged the Commission to indicate in the agenda whether or not cases are appealable; 
reported submitting a Challenge to Public Hearings and Environmental Determinations made at the Joint Special 
Meeting of the Planning Commission and Airport Land Use Committee on February 12, 2020; noted an EIR must be 
prepared; indicated there were documents missing in the Planning Commission Agenda Packet and expressed 
concerns with transparency, indicating he addressed this on February 12, 2020; and noted concerns with using Upland 
Rock as a baseline for Kimley Horn’s analysis. 
 
Tim Nguyen, Frontier, discussed community workshops and surveys; noted they have made changes to their proposed 
project and urged the Planning Commission to vote "No" on the resolution to let the City Council know the 
Commission supports high-quality housing, economic growth and community engagement.   
 
Noting there were no other members of the public wishing to address the Commission, Chair Aspinall closed oral 
communications. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary asked Deputy Attorney Shah to clarify the appealable action listed in the agenda for the public’s 
knowledge. 
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary's inquiry regarding appealable items, Deputy City Attorney Shah reported an item 
is appealable once a decision is final.  In stating whether a Council hearing is required, a no in the chart indicates the 
Commission’s determination is final, in which the item is appealable. A yes in the chart, indicates the Commission 
is a recommending body and the item is not appealable until the City Council makes a final determination. 
 
Development Services Director Dalquest clarified within the agenda, the title and recommendation section also 
indicates whether the Planning Commission is making a recommendation to City Council. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary clarified the meeting on February 12, 2020, there was only one (1) appealable action which was 
the Airport Land Use Determination and the other four (4) items were not appealable since they were 
recommendations.  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
1. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-0002 TO ESTABLISH A NEW 

RESTAURANT AND BANQUET HALL WITH ANCILLARY LIVE ENTERTAINMENT, OUTDOOR 
PATIO SEATING FOR DINING AND HOOKAH, AND TO ALLOW THE SALE OF BEER AND WINE 
(TYPE 41 LICENSE).   

 
Project Location: 345 W. Foothill Boulevard. APN: 1045-571-37. 

 

STAFF:  Jacqueline Hong, Assistant Planner 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 3 

APPLICANT:  
Alaaldin Almuzian 
1651 Via Galicia Street 
Corona, CA 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
 
1. Receive staff's presentation; and 
 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; and 
 
3. Move to adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of 

Upland approving Conditional Use Permit No.19-0002. 
COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: No 

APPEAL PERIOD: 10 days, ending March 9, 2020 

 
Commissioner Anderson announced her residence is within a 500-1,000 feet “grey area” of the proposed project site, 
recused herself from hearing the item and departed the Chambers.   
 
Assistant Planner Jacqueline Hong presented details of the staff report addressing location, description of the project, 
surrounding uses, zoning, operating hours, site plan, floorplan, review by the Technical Review Committee and the 
Upland Police Department, CEQA exemption and staff recommendation.  She made corrections to the wording of 
Condition No. 40.22, "The applicant shall not engage in or permit the smoking of tobacco products in enclosed spaces 
of employment, in accordance with Labor Code Section 6404.5" and reported hookah is allowed in the patio, only. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired as to whether no tobacco pertains to outside and whether other forms of tobacco other 
than hookah will be permitted outside. 
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Planning Manager Poland responded that it would be up to the owner 
as well as whether food will be served outside. 
 
Commissioner Brouse inquired as to what hookah is. 
 
In response to Commissioner Brouse’s inquiry, Assistant Planner Hong responded that she would defer to the 
applicant. 
 
Chair Aspinall opened the Public Hearing and invited the applicant to the podium. 
 
Omar Almuzian, applicant's son, described hookah and reported the restaurant will serve Iraqi food, which is a 
mixture of Persian and Indian food; reported choosing Upland for its strategic location; addressed enforcement of 
drinking and smoking regulations; identified the location of the banquet hall and discussed renovations to the interior 
of the building and the projected opening date.      
 
There being no other speakers, Chair Aspinall closed the public hearing.   
 
Assistant Planner Hong discussed Mr. Almuzian's efforts in working closely with staff on this project and noted the 
upstairs of the building can only be used as an office area, due to ADA accessibility and reported on another hookah 
restaurants in the City.   
 
Members of the Commission commented positively on the project. 
 
Moved by Vice Chair Schwary, to adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Upland approving 
Conditional Use Permit No.19-0002 with the amended Condition of Approval No. 40.22, as discussed.     
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Novikov.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote (5 – 0 – 1):  



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 4 

AYES:    Commissioners Brouse, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:      None      ABSTAINED:    Anderson 
 
ABSENT: None 
 
Commissioner Anderson returned to the Chambers and took her place on the dais.   
 
BUSINESS ITEMS  
 
1. Adoption of a resolution with findings in support of the Planning Commission’s recommendation to the City 

Council regarding Site Plan No. 19-09 and Design Review No. 19-17 for the Bridge Point Upland Project. 
 
Commissioner Novikov announced he was unable to attend the meeting of February 12, 2020 due to work obligations, 
but he was able to review all of the materials including the audio and is prepared to review the item.   
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah reported the item tonight is a review of the site plan item; noting there was action taken 
that was different than the staff recommendations and staff prepared a resolution reflecting the action from the 
previous meeting and the original resolution; and clarified the Commission is not reviewing any of the other items 
related to this project. 
 
Chair Aspinall clarified the item they were considering was identified as “Attachment A” of the materials and asked 
for clarification on the vote. 
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Deputy City Attorney Shah responded this is a new vote and is not taking 
away the previous vote. She further clarified the Commission is voting on which resolution they are adopting and 
recommending to City Council. 
 
Commissioner Brouse referenced his vote on the Site Review Plan No. 19-09 and Design Review No. 19-17; noted 
he made an error and requested the record show that he is in favor and support of this project, the revenues, jobs and 
benefits it will bring to the City. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary announced that after reviewing numerous emails regarding the matter and reviewing it further, 
he is more in favor, now, of the project, than he was in the previous meeting. 
 
Commissioner Anderson stated she is supportive of the project and asked if the Commission may vote to consider 
the original resolution recommending approval. 
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah noted that the Planning Commission may adopt either resolution at this time, whether to 
deny or approve staff recommendations based on the findings or can direct staff to draft a new resolution; she also 
indicated the original staff report and resolution are included in the packet as “Attachment B”; and advised the 
Commission that regardless of their vote this evening, each item of the project will be considered by the City Council. 
 
Moved by Commissioner Anderson, to adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Upland 
recommending City Council approval for the Site Plan No. 19-09 and Design Review No. 19-17 for the Bridge Point 
Upland Project.     
 
The motion was seconded by Chair Aspinall.  
 
Chair Aspinall asked Deputy City Attorney Shah to clarify the motion before the Commission votes. 
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s request, Deputy City Attorney Shah clarified the motion is to recommend that the 
City Council approve the resolution for the Site Plan; noting the City Council would be the final body. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote (4 – 2):  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Brouse, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 
 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 5 

NAYS:    Commissioners Novikov and Walker      ABSTAINED:    None 
 
ABSENT: None 
 
Chair Aspinall indicated there is no public comment. 
 
There was an outburst from the audience in which Mr. Bierbaum approached the lectern shouting his discontent with 
the Commission’s action and used profane language at the Planning Commission. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary addressed Mr. Bierbaum indicating this is not the time or the place. 
 
Chair Aspinall reiterated there is no public comment for this item and asked Mr. Bierbaum to leave.  Mr. Bierbaum 
refused to leave and continued shouting at the Planning Commission.  As Staff began to call the police, Mr. Bierbaum 
left the building. 
 
2. Resolution recommending that the City Council deny Specific Plan No. 18-02, General Plan Amendment No. 

18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT 18-03), Site Plan No. 18-10, Design Review No. 
18-14, and Environmental Assessment Review No. 0070 regarding the Villa Serena Specific Plan Project located 
on the north side of 15th Street, approximately 0.25 miles east of Campus Avenue. 

 
Commissioner Anderson reported she was absent at the original meeting but reviewed the records of the meeting 
including the audio and is prepared to participate in this item. 
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah noted recommendations from the Planning Commission at the original hearing were to 
recommend denial of the staff recommendation.  Accordingly, staff prepared a new resolution reflecting the action 
at the previous meeting; advising the Commission can vote to recommend approval, denial or direct staff to prepare 
a revised draft resolution similar to the previous item. 
 
Chair Aspinall asked for clarification as to who is able to vote. 
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Deputy City Attorney Shah replied that all of the Commissioners are able to 
vote on this item. 
 
Moved by Vice Chair Schwary to adopt a Resolution recommending that the City Council approve Specific Plan No. 
18-02, General Plan Amendment No. 18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT 18-03), Site 
Plan No. 18-10, Design Review No. 18-14, and Environmental Assessment Review No. 0070 regarding the Villa 
Serena Specific Plan Project located on the north side of 15th Street, approximately 0.25 miles east of Campus 
Avenue.  
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah clarified that the motion at the previous hearing was to recommend denial and sought 
clarification whether the motion is for approval of the project or approval of the resolution recommending denial. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary withdrew his motion. 
 
Moved by Commissioner Anderson, to adopt a Resolution recommending that the City Council deny the Mitigated 
Negative Declaration for Specific Plan No. 18-02, General Plan Amendment No. 18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, 
Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT 18-03), Site Plan No. 18-10, Design Review No. 18-14 for a residential specific plan 
for a gated residential community that consists of 65 single-family detached residential units at a density of 7.1 
dwelling units per acre and on-site active and passive recreational amenities to be provided within the common area 
open space on an existing 9.2-acre portion of the 15th Street flood control detention basin with modifications to the 
remainder detention basin. 
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Brouse.  
 
Chair Aspinall asked for clarification on the motion. 
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah clarified that a yes vote is to recommend denial to the City Council, 
 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 6 

Development Services Director Dalquest noted that a no vote would deny the motion. 
Deputy City Attorney Shah further clarified the vote. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the vote, findings and future actions. 
 
The motion failed by the following vote (3 – 3):  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Brouse and, Novikov 
 
NAYS:    Commissioner Walker, Vice Chair Schwary and Chair Aspinall   ABSTAINED:    None 
 
ABSENT: None 
 
Discussion followed regarding clarification of the motion and efforts by Frontier to get input from the community 
and make appropriate changes.   
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah reported the action now is not to take new information, but rather what has already been 
received in the record.  She added that each resolution should be looked at, in isolation, without assumptions and 
inferences and identified various options available to the Commission 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the possibility of opening 15th Street and specific changes made by the applicant.   
 
Moved by Commissioner Anderson, to adopt a Resolution recommending that the City Council deny Specific Plan 
No. 18-02, General Plan Amendment No. 18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT 18-03), 
Site Plan No. 18-10, Design Review No. 18-14 for a residential specific plan for a gated residential community that 
consists of 65 single-family detached residential units at a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre and on-site active 
and passive recreational amenities to be provided within the common area open space on an existing 9.2-acre portion 
of the 15th Street flood control detention basin with modifications to the remainder detention basin, based on the 
project as designed/presented on January 22, 2020.   
 
The motion was seconded by Chair Aspinall.  
 
The carried by the following vote (4 – 2):  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Brouse, Novikov, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:    Commissioner Walker and Vice Chair Schwary      ABSTAINED:    None 
 
ABSENT: None 
 
COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS  
 
Commissioner Anderson announced she will be attending an upcoming Lunch and Learn event in Riverside regarding 
housing and the California League of Cities Planning Academy. 
 
Commissioner Novikov inquired as to the status of the vacancy on the Planning Commission's vacant.  Staff reported 
interviews have taken place and the two top candidates may be on City Council's March 9th agenda.   
 
Commissioner Walker asked about considering an ordinance that would require developments meeting a certain 
threshold to have an EIR prior to the Planning Commission’s consideration.  It was noted that is already a State law, 
under CEQA.  Commissioner Walker inquired as to the opportunity to create individual thresholds that could identify 
the uniqueness and inquired as to the possibility of considering a noise ordinance relative to the train that goes by 
residential areas. Staff reported that designating a quiet zone might be an option but would need to review state law 
regarding public transportation that could restrict such actions. 
 
Chair Aspinall asked for an update on activities at Campus Avenue by the CNC and it was noted the property owner 
is stockpiling dirt for a potential future project.  Chair Aspinall discussed training with the City Attorney for new 
Planning Commissioners.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE UPLAND  
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING                 FEBRUARY 26, 2020 
 

Page 7 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Planning Commission, Chair Aspinall adjourned the meeting at 
8:08 P.M., to the regular meeting of the Planning Commission on March 25, 2020, at 6:30 P.M. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
        Robert D. Dalquest, Secretary  
        Upland Planning Commission 
 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

 
ITEM NO. 1 

 
 

 
DATE:  MARCH 25, 2020 
  
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
  
FROM: ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
  
PREPARED BY:  MIKE POLAND, CONTRACT PLANNING MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT:  PROPOSED AMENDMENT (DA 20-0002) TO DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT NO. DA 15-01 FOR “THE ENCLAVE AT UPLAND 
SPECIFIC PLAN”. 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUEST 
 
A request has been submitted by Adam Collier, representing Lewis Land Developers, 
LLC, to receive approval of an extension for the term of Development Agreement No. 
2015-01 for “The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan” for an additional one year period 
to July 27, 2021. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On July 27, 2015, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 1894 thereby adopting 
Specific Plan No. 15-01 for “The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan”. S approved “The 
Enclave at Upland Specific Plan” could facilitate the development of up to 350 single 
family attached and/or detached homes and 0.83 acres of private recreational and 
park space. The Specific Plan provides residential development standards for a 
variety of attached and detached product types ranging from 12 to 20 dwelling units 
per acre, along with a variety of architectural styles and landscape guidelines. 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 2 of 9 

 
The project site is approximately nineteen (19) acres in size and is located between 
Foothill Boulevard to the north and Eleventh Street to south, between Dewey Way to 
the west and Central Avenue to the east. The approved Harvest at Upland (Upland 
Crossing) Specific Plan is located nearby, just west of the subject property. A Monte 
Vista Water District facility adjoins a portion of the project site along its westerly 
boundary, with several commercial uses and a warehouse facility bordering the 
easterly boundary. 
 
A portion of the project site is currently used as a recreational vehicle storage yard.  
The remaining land area is undeveloped. 

 

 
 
In addition to approving the Specific Plan on July 27, 2015, the City Council adopted 
Ordinance No. 1896 thereby approving Development Agreement No. DA 15-01 for 
the Specific Plan. The Development Agreement is between the City of Upland and 
Lewis Land Developers, LLC. The Development Agreement addresses such items as 
the terms and duration of the agreement; transfers and assignments of the 
agreement; liability; development provisions; processing of entitlements, permits 
and approvals; and obligations of all parties for such items as development fees, 
phasing and installation of public improvements and benefits to be provided by the 
owner, developer and the City. The current Development Agreement is set to expire 
on July 27, 2020.  



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 3 of 9 

 
 
Per Section 3.5.2 of the existing Development Agreement (DA 15-01), the procedure 
for proposing and adopting an amendment to the Agreement shall be the same as 
the procedure required for entering into the Agreement in the first instance. The 
current Development Agreement was processed per Upland Municipal Code Section 
17.50.030 (Review Authority) which required that the City Council take action on all 
Development Agreement applications after considering the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission and Development Services Director. 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
As mentioned above the current development is set to expire on July 27, 2020. More 
specifically, per Section 2.3 of the recorded Development Agreement, the current 
Development Agreement will expire at 11:59 p.m. on the fifth (5th) anniversary of 
the effective date, which is July 27, 2020, unless it is extended by the City Council. 
However, the term of Development Agreement would automatically be extended for 
five (5) additional years upon the Developer’s recordation a final tract map for the 
project prior to expiration of the initial five (5) year term (July 27, 2020) and then 
also be extended for an additional five (5) years if the Developer or a merchant 
builder has pulled building permits for a minimum of 50% of the residential units in 
the project prior to expiration of the tenth (10th) year of the term. The total term of 
the Agreement shall not exceed fifteen (15) years. To date, a final tract map has not 
been recorded nor has the Developer nor has a merchant builder pulled any building 
permits. Therefore, an extension is being requested by Lewis Land Developers, LLC. 
 
In addition to Section 2.3 discussed above, Section 4.2.1 of the originally approved 
Development Agreement, read as follows:  
 

4.2.1 Development Agreement Fee. Provided the Agreement has not 
been terminated under Sections 2.3 or 2.4, DEVELOPER agrees to pay 
to CITY, on or before December 16, 2017, the amount of $350,000 as 
a Development Agreement Fee. The CITY shall make every attempt to 
use the Development Agreement Fee within 12 months after payment 
by the DEVELOPER to purchase a new fire apparatus for the CITY. CITY 
agrees that payment of the Development Impact Fee shall be a full credit 
against and completely satisfy DEVELOPER’s obligations for payment of 
the CITY’s Fire Impact Fee for a maximum of 350 dwelling units in the 
in the Project (currently $432 per dwelling unit). 

 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 4 of 9 

 
On December 16, 2016 the City and the Developer agreed to enter into the First 
Operating memorandum (Exhibit “E”).in accordance with Section 3.5.4 of the 
Agreement to revise Section 4.2.1 as worded above to (i) phase the payment of the 
Development Agreement Fee and to (ii) remove the requirement that the City make 
every attempt to use the Development Agreement Fee within 12 months after 
payment to purchase new fire apparatus for the City Fire Department.  
 
Section 4.2.1 now reads as follows: 
 

4.2.1. Provided the Agreement has not been terminated under Sections 
2.3 or 2.4, DEVELOPER agrees to pay CITY, the amount of $350,000 as 
a Development Agreement Fee as follows: (i) $175,000 on December 
16, 2016, and (ii) $175,000 on June 30, 2017. The CITY may use the 
Development Agreement Fee for any public purpose at its discretion. 
CITY agrees that payment of the Development Impact Fee (“DIF”) may 
be credited by DEVELOPER as a DIF Credit either (i) against the CITY’s 
Fire Impact Fee to completely satisfy DEVELOPER’s obligations for 
payment of the CITY’s Fire Impact Fee for a maximum of 350 dwelling 
units in the Project (currently $432 per dwelling unit), or (ii) if the CITY 
ceases collection of the Fire Impact Fee by reason of the annexation to 
SBCFD, then against another DIF charged to the Project. 

 
The two required payments of $175,000 referenced above have been paid to the City. 
These payments were placed in the City’s General Fund and disbursed on the basis 
of need. 
 
On January 15, 2020, Lewis Land Developers, LLC, submitted a Preliminary Review 
Application for the proposed development of 192 residential units comprised of 116 
2-story detached condominium units and 76 3-story attached condominium units 
within The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan area. The proposal also includes a 
centralized recreation area comprised of a pool and spa, small recreation building, 
and open space play lot.   
 
A Preliminary Review Application is the first step in the formal planning entitlement 
process. The Preliminary Review Application is submitted prior to submitting the 
formal planning entitlement applications and includes a meeting with the project's 
representatives (e.g., sponsor, agent, and architect) and staff. Staff’s preliminary 
review will ensure that it meets the applicable requirements as well as development 
and design-related criteria. A Preliminary Review Application does not guarantee the 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 5 of 9 

 
approval of any formal planning entitlement applications, nor can staff assure 
approval. 
 
The Preliminary Review Application provides a one-on-one opportunity for the staff 
to outline the specific zoning issues, permits and procedures (e.g., Design Review, 
Site Plan, and Tentative Tract Map) associated with the project. Staff will also provide 
and review the appropriate permit application packet, submittal checklist, timelines 
and fees. Preliminary Review Applications that are submitted early in the project 
stage can help ensure that the project meets necessary requirements and avoids 
costly delays. 
 
It is most likely that the formal planning entitlements submittal and approval process 
will extend past the current deadline specified in Development Agreement No. 15-01 
which is July 27, 2020. In discussion with Lewis Land Developers, LLC, as they pursue 
their planning entitlements, they will continue to allow the RV Spa business interim 
use of the property during the entitlement process, as they understand the sales tax 
benefit to the City of their operation, and they will continue to work with the RV Spa 
business owner and the City on possible relocation of their business within the City 
of Upland. 
 
Staff finds the following City interests that would be achieved with the approval of 
the proposed Amendment. The Amendment would: 
 

• Continue to encourage development in the western portion of Upland, 
consistent with The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan, which will provide 
additional revenues to the City, and completion of key infrastructure. 

 
• Extend the term of the Development Agreement for an additional year to allow 

the developer additional time to obtain City approvals and develop the 
property. 

 
• Allow the continued interim use of the property by the RV Spa business during 

the entitlement process which is a sales tax benefit to the City from that 
business operation. 

 
• Allow the City and Lewis Land Developers, LLC, additional time to work with 

the owner of the RV Spa business on possible relocation of their business within 
the City of Upland. 

 
On this basis, staff supports the proposed Development Agreement Amendment. 
 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 6 of 9 

 
FINDINGS 
 
Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 15.50.080 (Findings), the following 
findings are required to be made for the Development Agreement Amendment: 
 

a. The Development Agreement will provide clear and substantial benefits to the 
City and its residents. 

FACT: The applicant has previously paid to the City two payments of $175,000. 
These payments were placed in the City’s General Fund and disbursed on the 
basis of need. In addition, as consideration for the City’s approval and 
performance of its obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Developer is 
required to pay the City a development impact fee in the sum of $18,111.00 
per residential dwelling unit as part of the Project. With potentially 192 
residential units proposed this fee equals $3,477,312.00 (192 x 
$18,111.000/unit). The development impact fee is imposed by the City on a 
new or proposed development project to pay for all or a portion of the costs of 
providing public services to the new development. 
 
In addition, a park area measuring 0.83 acres is provided in PA-5 and may 
include a tot-lot, picnic area, barbeque area, exercise stations, and a grassy 
open space. 
 

b. The Development Agreement complies with applicable policies and regulations 
set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the General Plan and 
any other applicable community or specific plan. 

FACT: The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan was approved in order to establish 
appropriate zoning to regulate land use and development of the Property 
consistent with the General Plan. The Specific Plan represents an expansion of 
the residential neighborhood approved and under construction just west of the 
project site (Harvest Specific Plan). 

The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan allows up to 350 single family attached 
and/or detached homes. The standards, design guidelines, and development 
parameters unique to The Enclave at Upland are provided in the Specific Plan 
document, and it acts as the “zoning code” for the project. 

c. The Development Agreement complies with the requirements of California 
Government Code Sections 65864 et seq. 

FACT: The Development Agreement assists the Developer with reducing the 
economic costs of development by providing assurance to the Developer that 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 7 of 9 

 
they may proceed with projects consistent with existing land use policies, 
rules, and regulations, the California Legislature adopted California 
Government Code Sections 65864-65869.5 (the “Development Agreement 
Statute”) authorizing cities and counties to enter into development agreements 
with persons or entities having a legal or equitable interest in real property 
located within their jurisdiction. 

d. The Development Agreement will promote the public health, safety, and 
welfare, and will not be detrimental to or cause adverse effects to the 
residents, property, or improvements in the vicinity of the subject project. 

FACT: On July 13, 2015, the City Council certified the project’s Mitigated 
Negative Declaration for The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan. The Mitigated 
Negative Declaration was prepared for the project pursuant to the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines. Based on the Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration completed, it was determined that the project would not 
have a significant effect on the environment. The Mitigated Negative 
Declaration includes a Mitigation Monitoring Program, which will ensure the 
completion of required mitigation measures for the project.  

e. The Development Agreement will be compatible with the uses allowed in, and 
the regulations that apply to, the zone in which the subject property is located. 

FACT: The proposed uses, development standards and design guidelines 
contained in Chapters 2 and 3 of The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan are 
tailored to guide the development of the proposed uses on site, and ensure 
that new development implements the vision of The Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan. Standards and guidelines address permitted uses; the placement; height 
and orientation of the buildings; parking; open space provisions; circulation 
and access; and architectural and landscape design. 

f. The Development Agreement will not cause adverse effects to the orderly 
development of property or the preservation of property values in the City. 

FACT: The orderly and measured build-out of the Project will allow for the 
absorption of the new development into the community and the integration of 
the Project into the community.  

g. The Development Agreement will further important Citywide goals and policies 
that have been officially recognized by the City Council. 

FACT: The development agreement is consistent with the General Plan, and its 
goals, objectives, policies and programs. Furthermore, The Enclave at Upland 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 8 of 9 

 
Specific Plan is consistent with and supportive of the goals and policies of the 
City of Upland General Plan in that multi-family residential projects should, 
through the application of state-of-the-art site planning techniques, provide an 
efficient, desirable residential environment for the inhabitants of the project 
and enrich the visual quality of the City. 

h. The Development Agreement will provide the City with important, tangible 
benefits beyond those that may be required by the City through project 
conditions of approval. 

FACT: In addition to providing Development Impact Fees of over $3,000,000 
and associated plan check/permit fees for potentially 192 residential units, 
related fees to the City will also include plan check and permit fees for the 
construction of infrastructure. Also, the project will increase property tax 
revenue to the City by increasing the assessed value of the property upon 
completion of the project. 

 
CEQA 
 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires analysis of agency 
approvals of discretionary “Projects.” A “Project,” under CEQA, is defined as “the 
whole of an action, which has a potential for resulting in either a direct physical 
change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in 
the environment.” The proposed Project is a project under CEQA. 
 
State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 (Subsequent EIRs and Negative Declarations) 
provides that when an EIR has been certified or negative declaration adopted for a 
project, no subsequent EIR shall be prepared for that project unless the lead agency 
determines, on the basis of substantial evidence in light of the whole record, that 
there are new significant environmental effects due to a change in the project or 
circumstances, or there is new information of substantial importance as identified in 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15162(a)(3). On July 13, 2015, the City Council approved 
Resolution No. 6287 thereby adopting the Mitigated Negative Declaration and 
Mitigation Monitoring Program for The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan project (SCH 
No. 2015061026). Potential environmental impacts of The Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan project were analyzed as part of the MND. The proposed Amendment to the 
Development Agreement provides an extension to July 27, 2021, of the terms of the 
Development Agreement and there is no development proposal for the property at 
this time and its underlying zoning designation will remain unchanged. The 
amendment to the DA will not result in any new impacts; therefore, no further 
environmental review is required pursuant to CEQA Section 15162. 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 9 of 9 

 
NOTIFICATION 
 
Pursuant to Title 17, Land Use Code, Section 17.46.020, Notice of Hearing, a public 
hearing notice has been mailed to all 40 property owners within 300 feet as listed on 
the San Bernardino County Real Property Tax Assessment rolls and has been 
published in the Daily Bulletin at least 10 days prior to the hearing. This agenda item 
has been provided to the applicant and its representative through posting of the 
agenda packet on the City’s website. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission: 
 

1. Find that the Project requires no further environmental review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15162 (Subsequent EIRs and Negative Declarations); and 
 

2. Adopt a Resolution recommending that the City Council approve the 
Amendment to Development Agreement No. 15-01 for The Enclave at Upland 
Specific Plan, thereby extending the term to July 27, 2021; and   
 

3. Recommend that the City Council introduce an Ordinance approving the 
Amendment to The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan Development Agreement. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment A:  Planning Commission Resolution 
Attachment B:  Draft City Council Ordinance Amending Development Agreement 

No. 15-01 
Attachment C:  Amendment to Development Agreement No. 15-01 
Attachment D: 2015 Approved/Recorded Development Agreement 
Attachment E: First Operating Memorandum 



 

 

Exhibit A – Draft Resolution 

 



ATTACHMENT  “A” 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
UPLAND RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF THE 
AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT NO. 15-01 
THEREBY EXTENDING THE TERM OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF UPLAND AND LEWIS LAND 
DEVELOPERS, LLC FOR THE ENCLAVE AT UPLAND SPECFIC PLAN 
 

 
The City of Upland Planning Commission hereby resolves as follows: 

 
Section 1. Background. 
 
1. On July 27, 2015, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 1896 approving the 

Development Agreement with Lewis Land Developers, LLC for The Enclave at 
Upland Specific Plan Project; and, 

 
2. Adam Collier, representing Lewis Land Developers, LLC, submitted a request to 

extend the term of the Development Agreement by and between the City of 
Upland and Lewis Land Developers, LLC, for a one (1) year period; and, 

 
3. The potential environmental impacts of the proposed amendment to the 

development Agreement have been previously addressed in full compliance with 
the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and its 
Guidelines, and no further environmental analysis is required prior to the approval 
of the proposed amendment because: 

 
a) The environmental impacts of The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan Project 

have been fully analyzed by The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan Mitigated 
Negative Declaration (MND) approved by Resolution No. 6287 by the City 
of Upland City Council on July 13, 2015. 

 
b) The proposed amendment does not proposed any change in the previously 

approved project or any change which could potentially result in either a 
direct or indirect physical change in the environment, the proposed 
amendment will not result in new potentially significant environmental 
effect. 

 
c) None of the conditions described in CEQA Guidelines Sections 15162 or 

15164 which would call for the preparation of a Subsequent or Mitigated 
Negative Declaration Addendum, would occur as a result of the proposed 
amendment, and  

 
4. The Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 25, 2020, to consider 

the Applicant’s request for an amendment to extend the term of Development 



Planning Commission Resolution 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 2 of 6 

 
Agreement No. 15-01. The Planning Commission, after staff analysis of the same, 
independently reviewed and analyzed reports and declarations which became a 
part of the record of this decision; and 

  
5. The Planning Commission made its decision to recommend approval of the 

amendment in light of the record as a whole as set forth in these findings; and 
 
6. The Planning Commission, in recommending approval of the amendment, of which 

these findings are a part, did so through the exercise of their independent 
judgment and review after finding substantial evidence, in light of the record as a 
whole, to support the proposed amendment; and 

 
7. The Planning Commission has made its decision to recommend approval of this 

amendment in the light of all the testimony and evidence presented at or prior to 
the close of the noticed public hearing, including letters, reports, comments, 
analyses, etc., which the Planning Commission after review and comment by its 
staff critically reviewed, corrected, and augmented where necessary, as set forth 
in the record and procedural findings on this Project. 

 
Section 2.  Findings.  

 
Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 15.50.080 (Findings), the following 
findings are required to be made for the Development Agreement: 
 

a. The Development Agreement will provide clear and substantial benefits to the 
City and its residents. 

FACT: The applicant has previously paid to the City two payments of $175,000. 
These payments were placed in the City’s General Fund and disbursed on the 
basis of need. In addition, as consideration for the City’s approval and 
performance of its obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Developer is 
required to pay the City a development impact fee in the sum of $18,111.00 
per residential dwelling unit as part of the Project. With potentially 192 
residential units proposed this fee equals $3,477,312.00 (192 x 
$18,111.000/unit). The development impact fee is imposed by the City on a 
new or proposed development project to pay for all or a portion of the costs of 
providing public services to the new development. 
 
In addition, a park area measuring 0.83 acres is provided in PA-5 and may 
include a tot-lot, picnic area, barbeque area, exercise stations, and a grassy 
open space. 
 

b. The Development Agreement complies with applicable policies and regulations 
set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the General Plan and 
any other applicable community or specific plan. 



Planning Commission Resolution 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 3 of 6 

 
FACT: The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan was approved in order to establish 
appropriate zoning to regulate land use and development of the Property 
consistent with the General Plan. The Specific Plan represents an expansion of 
the residential neighborhood approved and under construction just west of the 
project site (Harvest Specific Plan). 

The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan allows up to 350 single family attached 
and/or detached homes. The standards, design guidelines, and development 
parameters unique to The Enclave at Upland are provided in the Specific Plan 
document, and it acts as the “zoning code” for the project. 

c. The Development Agreement complies with the requirements of California 
Government Code Sections 65864 et seq. 

FACT: The Development Agreement assists the Developer with reducing the 
economic costs of development by providing assurance to the Developer that 
they may proceed with projects consistent with existing land use policies, 
rules, and regulations, the California Legislature adopted California 
Government Code Sections 65864-65869.5 (the “Development Agreement 
Statute”) authorizing cities and counties to enter into development agreements 
with persons or entities having a legal or equitable interest in real property 
located within their jurisdiction. 

d. The Development Agreement will promote the public health, safety, and 
welfare, and will not be detrimental to or cause adverse effects to the 
residents, property, or improvements in the vicinity of the subject project. 

FACT: On July 13, 2015, the City Council certified the project’s Mitigated 
Negative Declaration for The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan. The Mitigated 
Negative Declaration was prepared for the project pursuant to the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines. Based on the Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration completed, it was determined that the project would not 
have a significant effect on the environment. The Mitigated Negative 
Declaration includes a Mitigation Monitoring Program, which will ensure the 
completion of required mitigation measures for the project.  

e. The Development Agreement will be compatible with the uses allowed in, and 
the regulations that apply to, the zone in which the subject property is located. 

FACT: The proposed uses, development standards and design guidelines 
contained in Chapters 2 and 3 of The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan are 
tailored to guide the development of the proposed uses on site, and ensure 
that new development implements the vision of The Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan. Standards and guidelines address permitted uses; the placement; height 



Planning Commission Resolution 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 4 of 6 

 
and orientation of the buildings; parking; open space provisions; circulation 
and access; and architectural and landscape design. 

f. The Development Agreement will not cause adverse effects to the orderly 
development of property or the preservation of property values in the City. 

FACT: The orderly and measured build-out of the Project will allow for the 
absorption of the new development into the community and the integration of 
the Project into the community.  

g. The Development Agreement will further important Citywide goals and policies 
that have been officially recognized by the City Council. 

FACT: The development agreement is consistent with the General Plan, and its 
goals, objectives, policies and programs. Furthermore, The Enclave at Upland 
Specific Plan is consistent with and supportive of the goals and policies of the 
City of Upland General Plan in that multi-family residential projects should, 
through the application of state-of-the-art site planning techniques, provide an 
efficient, desirable residential environment for the inhabitants of the project 
and enrich the visual quality of the City. 

h. The Development Agreement will provide the City with important, tangible 
benefits beyond those that may be required by the City through project 
conditions of approval. 

FACT: In addition to providing Development Impact Fees of over $3,000,000 
and associated plan check/permit fees for potentially 192 residential units, 
related fees to the City will also include plan check and permit fees for the 
construction of infrastructure. Also, the project will increase property tax 
revenue to the City by increasing the assessed value of the property upon 
completion of the project. 

 
Section 3.  Decision.  

 
Based on the testimony received by the Planning Commission and the background 
and findings set forth above, the Planning Commission recommends that the City 
Council of the City of Upland approve the Amendment to Development Agreement 
No. 15-01 extending the term of the Development Agreement.  

 
Section 4.  Inconsistency. 

If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this resolution or the 
document in the record in support of this resolution is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, unconstitutional or otherwise 
void, that determination shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections, 
divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  



Planning Commission Resolution 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 5 of 6 

 
Section 5.  Certification.   

The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall certify to the passage, approval, and 
adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause this Resolution and their certification to 
be entered in the Book of Resolutions of the Planning Commission of the City. 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 25th day of March, 2020. 

   

______________________________ 

Robin Aspinall, CHAIR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Planning Commission Resolution 
DA 20-0002 

March 25, 2020 
Page 6 of 6 

 
 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________  

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 25th day of March, 2020, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:     
NAYS:   
ABSENT:    
ABSTAIN:    
 
 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 



 

 

Exhibit B – Draft City Council Ordinance 

Amending Development Agreement No.15-01 

 



ATTACHMENT “B” 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF UPLAND APPROVING AND 
ADOPTING AN AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT NO. 
DA 15-01 FOR THE ENCLAVE AT UPLAND SPECIFIC PLAN 
PROJECT, BETWEEN THE CITY OF UPLAND AND LEWIS LAND 
DEVELOPERS, LLC, EXTENDING THE TERM OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT FROM JULY 27, 2020, TO JULY 20, 2021, FOR A 
19.04-ACRE SITE LOCATED AT ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF FOOTHILL 
BOULEVARD, THE NORTH SIDE OF 11TH STREET, WITH CENTRAL 
AVENUE TO THE EAST, AND DEWEY AVENUE TO THE WEST 
(ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBERS 1007-051-02, 03, 04 AND 1007-
041-05, 06, 07) 

 
WHEREAS, Lewis Land Developers, LLC has requested approval of an 

amendment to Development Agreement No. 15-01 between the City and Lewis Land 
Developers, LLC, for The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan Project, which Agreement 
was originally executed in 2015, by and between the City and Lewis Land Developers, 
LLC; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Upland (the "City") has enacted regulations (the 

"Development Agreement Regulations") to implement procedures for the processing 
and approval of development agreements in accordance with the Chapter 17.50 of 
the City of Upland Municipal Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, if approved, the proposed amendment to the Development 

Agreement ("proposed DA Amendment") would extend the term of the Development 
Agreement by one (1) year to July 27, 2021, and all other aspects of the Development 
Agreement would remain the same; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the potential environmental impacts of the proposed DA 
Amendment have been previously addressed in full compliance with the provisions of 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and its Guidelines, and no further 
environmental analysis is required prior to the approval of the proposed DA 
Amendment because: 

 
a) The environmental impacts of The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan Project, 

have been fully analyzed by the Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) 
certified by the City Council on July 13, 2015; and, 

 
b) The proposed Development Agreement Amendment does not propose any 

change in the previously approved project or any change which could 
potentially result in either a direct or indirect physical change in the 
environment, the proposed DA Amendment will not result in new, 
potentially significant environmental effects; and, 
 

c) None of the conditions described in CEQA Guidelines Sections 15162, 
15163, or 15164 which would call for the preparation of a Subsequent or 



2 
 

Supplemental MND, or an MID Addendum, would occur as a result of the 
proposed DA Amendment; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 25, 2020 

on the proposed Amendment to the Development Agreement, during which public 
hearing the Planning Commission received comments from the Developer, City staff, 
and members of the general public; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council held a duly noticed public hearing on 
___________, 2020 on the proposed Amendment to the Development Agreement, 
during which public hearing the City Council received comments from the Developer, 
City staff, and members of the general public. 

WHEREAS, the record of proceedings on which the City Council's decision is 
based is located at City Hall for the City of Upland, located at 460 N. Euclid Avenue, 
Upland, California and the custodian of record of proceedings is the City Clerk. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UPLAND, CALIFORNIA, 
DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1.   Recitals. 
 
The above recitations are true and correct and are adopted as the findings of 

the City Council. 
 

SECTION 2.   Findings. 
 

Per Upland Municipal Code Chapter 17.50.080 the City Council of the City of 
Upland makes the following additional findings: 

 
a. The Development Agreement will provide clear and substantial benefits to the 

City and its residents. 

FACT: The applicant has previously paid to the City two payments of $175,000. 
These payments were placed in the City’s General Fund and disbursed on the 
basis of need. In addition, as consideration for the City’s approval and 
performance of its obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Developer is 
required to pay the City a development impact fee in the sum of $18,111.00 
per residential dwelling unit as part of the Project. With potentially 192 
residential units proposed this fee equals $3,477,312.00 (192 x 
$18,111.000/unit). The development impact fee is imposed by the City on a 
new or proposed development project to pay for all or a portion of the costs of 
providing public services to the new development. 
 
In addition, a park area measuring 0.83 acres is provided in PA-5 and may 
include a tot-lot, picnic area, barbeque area, exercise stations, and a grassy 
open space. 
 



3 
 

b. The Development Agreement complies with applicable policies and regulations 
set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the General Plan and 
any other applicable community or specific plan. 

FACT: The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan was approved in order to establish 
appropriate zoning to regulate land use and development of the Property 
consistent with the General Plan. The Specific Plan represents an expansion of 
the residential neighborhood approved and under construction just west of the 
project site (Harvest Specific Plan). 

The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan allows up to 350 single family attached 
and/or detached homes. The standards, design guidelines, and development 
parameters unique to The Enclave at Upland are provided in the Specific Plan 
document, and it acts as the “zoning code” for the project. 

c. The Development Agreement complies with the requirements of California 
Government Code Sections 65864 et seq. 

FACT: The Development Agreement assists the Developer with reducing the 
economic costs of development by providing assurance to the Developer that 
they may proceed with projects consistent with existing land use policies, 
rules, and regulations, the California Legislature adopted California 
Government Code Sections 65864-65869.5 (the “Development Agreement 
Statute”) authorizing cities and counties to enter into development agreements 
with persons or entities having a legal or equitable interest in real property 
located within their jurisdiction. 

d. The Development Agreement will promote the public health, safety, and 
welfare, and will not be detrimental to or cause adverse effects to the 
residents, property, or improvements in the vicinity of the subject project. 

FACT: On July 13, 2015, the City Council certified the project’s Mitigated 
Negative Declaration for The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan. The Mitigated 
Negative Declaration was prepared for the project pursuant to the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines. Based on the Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration completed, it was determined that the project would not 
have a significant effect on the environment. The Mitigated Negative 
Declaration includes a Mitigation Monitoring Program, which will ensure the 
completion of required mitigation measures for the project.  

e. The Development Agreement will be compatible with the uses allowed in, and 
the regulations that apply to, the zone in which the subject property is located. 

FACT: The proposed uses, development standards and design guidelines 
contained in Chapters 2 and 3 of The Enclave at Upland Specific Plan are 
tailored to guide the development of the proposed uses on site, and ensure 
that new development implements the vision of The Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan. Standards and guidelines address permitted uses; the placement; height 



4 
 

and orientation of the buildings; parking; open space provisions; circulation 
and access; and architectural and landscape design. 

f. The Development Agreement will not cause adverse effects to the orderly 
development of property or the preservation of property values in the City. 

FACT: The orderly and measured build-out of the Project will allow for the 
absorption of the new development into the community and the integration of 
the Project into the community.  

g. The Development Agreement will further important Citywide goals and policies 
that have been officially recognized by the City Council. 

FACT: The development agreement is consistent with the General Plan, and its 
goals, objectives, policies and programs. Furthermore, The Enclave at Upland 
Specific Plan is consistent with and supportive of the goals and policies of the 
City of Upland General Plan in that multi-family residential projects should, 
through the application of state-of-the-art site planning techniques, provide an 
efficient, desirable residential environment for the inhabitants of the project 
and enrich the visual quality of the City. 

h. The Development Agreement will provide the City with important, tangible 
benefits beyond those that may be required by the City through project 
conditions of approval. 

FACT: In addition to providing Development Impact Fees of over $3,000,000 
and associated plan check/permit fees for potentially 192 residential units, 
related fees to the City will also include plan check and permit fees for the 
construction of infrastructure. Also, the project will increase property tax 
revenue to the City by increasing the assessed value of the property upon 
completion of the project. 
 
SECTION 3.   CEQA. 

 
The City Council does hereby find that the Development Agreement Amendment is 
not subject to CEQA because it is not a "project" as defined in Title 14, California 
Code of Regulations Section 15378. 
 

SECTION 4.  Amendment. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 65868, the City Council does hereby approve 
and adopt the "Amendment to the Development Agreement for The Enclave at Upland 
Specific Plan Project” by and between the City of Upland and Lewis Land Developers, 
LLC, which is attached as Exhibit A, and incorporated herein by reference. The Mayor 
is hereby authorized to execute said agreement on behalf of the City of Upland. 
 

 
 
 



5 
 

SECTION 5.   Severability. 
 

If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase, 
or portion of this Ordinance is, for any reason, held to be unconstitutional or invalid 
or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect 
the validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this Ordinance or any part 
thereof. The City Council herby declares that it would have adopted this Ordinance 
and each section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph sentence, clause or phrase of 
this Ordinance irrespective of the fact that one or more sections, subsections, 
subdivisions, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases be declared unconstitutional 
or invalid or ineffective. To this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to 
be severable. 
 

SECTION 6.   Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force thirty (30) days after its passage. 
 

SECTION 7.   City Clerk's Certification. 
 
The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance and cause the same to 
be posted at the duly designated posting places within the City and published once 
within fifteen (15) days after passage and adoption as required by law; or, in the 
alternative, the City Clerk may cause to be published a summary of this Ordinance 
and a certified copy of the text of this Ordinance shall be posted in the Office of the 
City Clerk five (5) days prior to the date of adoption of this Ordinance; and, within 
fifteen (15) days after adoption, the City Clerk shall cause to be published the 
aforementioned summary and shall post a certified copy of this Ordinance, together with the 
vote for and against the same, in the Office of the City Clerk. 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on this ___ day of ________ 2020. 

 
_________________________________ 

                                                                        Mayor of the City of Upland 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
                 City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
               City Attorney 
  



6 
 

ORDINANCE JURAT 
 
 
 STATE OF CALIFORNIA              ) 
 
COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO   ) ss.  
 
CITY OF UPLAND                      ) 
 
 
I, Keri Johnson, City Clerk of the City of Upland, California, do hereby certify that  
 
Ordinance No. ______ had its first reading on ___________, 2020 and had its second 
 
reading on _____________, 2020, and was duly and regularly adopted by the City 
 
Council of the City of Upland at a regular meeting thereof held on the __________  
 
day of _______, _______ by the following vote: 
 
 
 
 
 AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
                    CITY CLERK 
 
 

(SEAL) 
 



 

 

Exhibit C – Amendment to Development 

Agreement No. 15-01  

 



RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 

 

 
City of Upland 
460 North Euclid Avenue 
Upland, CA 91786 
 

 

WHEN RECORDED, MAIL TO: 
 

 

 
Keri Johnson, City Clerk 
City of Upland 
460 North Euclid Avenue 
Upland, CA 91786 
 

 

 
Exempt from Recording Fees: 
Government Code §§27383, 6103 
City of Upland 

 
 
This Space for Recorder’s Use Only 

 

 

 

 

Amendment to Development Agreement for the Enclave at Upland 
Specific Plan Project, Between the City of Upland and Lewis Land 

Developers, LLC 

 
 

  

ATTACHMENT “C” 



AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE ENCLAVE AT UPLAND 
SPECIFIC PLAN, BETWEEN THE CITY OF UPLAND AND LEWIS LAND 

DEVELOPERS, LLC 
 
This Amendment to the Development Agreement for the Enclave at Upland Specific 
Plan (the “Amendment”), is entered into between the City of Upland, a municipal 
corporation (“City”), and Lewis Land Developers, LLC (“Owner”). City and Owner are 
referred to collectively within this Amendment as the “Parties.” 

 

RECITALS 

A. Owners owns the real property with the City (the “Property”) which is described 
and shown on Exhibit “A” to this Amendment. The Property represents 19-acre 
developable area located on the south side of Foothill Boulevard and bounded 
by Dewey Way, 11th Street, and Central Avenue (Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 
1007-051-02, 03, 04 AND 1007-041-05, 06, 07) known as the “Enclave at 
Upland Specific Plan” (the “Project”). 

B. In 2015, City and Owner, entered into a Development Agreement for the 
Project. 

C. The parties have now agreed to an extension of the Term of the Development 
Agreement, pursuant to Section 2.3 thereof. 

D. This extension was approved by the City Council by ordinance on 
______________, 2020. 

AGREEMENT 

The Parties agree as follows: 

1. Pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Development Agreement, the term of the 
Development Agreement is extended for one year, to and including July 27, 
2021. 

Except as modified, all provisions of the development Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

This Amendment has been signed as of ________________, 2020, the effective date 
of the ordinance approving this Amendment. 

 

[Signatures on following page] 

 

 



SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE 
ENCLAVE AT UPLAND SPECIFIC PLAN PROJECT, BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
UPLAND AND LEWIS LAND DEVELOPERS, LLC 

 

“City”       “Owner” 

City of Upland      Lewis Land Developers, LLC 
a municipal corporation 
 
 
 
By _________________________   By _______________________ 
                 Mayor      Name ____________________ 
        Title _____________________  
 
 

Attest: 

 

____________________________ 
Keri Johnson, City Clerk 
 
 
Approve as to Form 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
City Attorney 
 
  



 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA   ) 

      ) 

COUNTY OF ____________________  ) 

 

 

On _____________________________, 2020, before me,  ___________________, 
Notary Public, personally appeared ______________________________, who 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name 
is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they 
executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity, and that by his/her/their 
signature on the instrument the person, or the entity upon behalf of which the person 
acted, executed the instrument.  

I certify UNER PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that 
the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official. 

 

 

 

Signature ______________________________ 

(seal) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the 
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Proper 

 

Real property in the City of Upland, County of San Bernardino described as follows: 

HAFIF REVOCABLE TRUST PARCELS: 
 
PARCEL 1: 
 
THE NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE EAST 68 FEET OF LOT 12 OF COLLEGE HEIGHTS 
TRACT, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN 
BY MAP ON FILE IN BOOK 17, PAGES 77 AND 78 OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.  
 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE NORTH 17 FEET THEREOF. 
 
ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE WEST 20 FEET OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED 
PARCEL OF LAND. 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
LOT 23 OF COLLEGE HEIGHTS TRACT, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE 
OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN BY MAP ON FILE IN BOOK 17, PAGES 77 AND 78 OF 
MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
PARCEL 3: 
 
LOTS 11 AND 22, COLLEGE HEIGHTS TRACT, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN BY MAP ON FILE IN BOOK 17, PAGES 77 AND 78 
OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.  
 
EXCEPT FROM SAID LOT 11, THE INTEREST IN THAT PORTION OF SAID LAND 
CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR HIGHWAY PURPOSES BY DEED 
RECORDED JANUARY 17, 1929 IN BOOK 453, PAGE 297, OFFICIAL RECORDS. 
 
CLAREMONT PROFESSIONAL BUILDING PARCELS: 
 
PARCEL NO. 4: 
 
THE WEST 68 FEET OF THE EAST 136 FEET OF LOT 12 OF COLLEGE HEIGHTS TRACT, 
IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP 
RECORDED IN BOOK 17 OF MAPS, PAGES 77 AND 78, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 



 
EXCEPTING THE NORTH 17 FEET THEREOF. 
 
ALSO EXCEPTING THE SOUTH 15 FEET THEREOF. 
 
PARCEL NO. 5: 
 
THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE EAST 68 FEET OF LOT 12 OF THE COLLEGE HEIGHTS 
TRACT, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP 
RECORDED IN BOOK 17 OF MAPS, PAGES 77 AND 78, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.  
 
EXCEPTING THE SOUTH 15 FEET THEREOF. 
 
PARCEL NO. 6: 
 
THE WEST 20 FEET OF THE NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE EAST 68 FEET OF LOT 12, OF 
COLLEGE 
HEIGHTS TRACT, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 17 OF MAPS, PAGES 77 AND 78, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPTING THE NORTH 17 FEET THEREOF. 
 
APN:  1007-041-05-0-000 (Affects: Parcel 2) 
1007-041-06-0-000 (Affects: Lot 22 of Parcel 3) 
1007-051-02-0-000 (Affects: Parcels 4, 5 and 6) 
1007-051-03-0-000 (Affects: Parcel 1) 
1007-051-04-0-000 (Affects: Lot 11 of Parcel 3) 
 



 

 

Exhibit D – 2015 Approved/Recorded           

Development Agreement 

 

















































































































 

 

Exhibit E – First Operating Memorandum 

 



























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

 
ITEM NO. 2 

 
 
DATE: March 25, 2020 
 
TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
 
PREPARED BY: JOSHUA WINTER, ASSOCIATE PLANNER 
 
SUBJECT: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP-19-0001, 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW NO. DPR-19-0002, AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-19-0001 
FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A NEW 5,001 SQUARE FOOT 
DRIVE-THROUGH RESTAURANT (CHICK-FIL-A) WITHIN THE 
EXISTING MOUNTAIN GREEN SHOPPING CENTER LOCATED 
IN THE REGIONAL COMMERCIAL (RC) DISTRICT AT 335 S. 
MOUNTAIN AVENUE (APN: 1008-131-05 AND 1008-131-04). 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUEST 
 
The applicant, Kelsey Wu, requests that the Planning Commission approve the land 
use entitlements for a drive-through restaurant (Chick-fil-A) with outdoor seating and 
related site improvements (See Exhibit A – Draft Resolution).  
 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP-19-0001) to permit and condition a restaurant with 
drive-through facilities; 
 
Development Plan Review (DPR-19-0002) to establish the site layout and design of 
the project; 
 
Environmental Assessment Review (EAR-19-0002) to identify and determine the 
requirements, or make a finding for exemption under the California Environmental 
Quality Act; 
 
 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 2 of 8 

 
SYNOPSIS 
 
Applicant: Kelsey Wu 
Representative: Same as Applicant  
Property Owner: Cal-Perl Upland LP and LAF4LT Holdings  
Property Location: 335 S. Mountain Avenue (APN: 1008-131-05 and 

1008-131-04) 
Existing General Plan 
Land Use Designation: 

Regional Commercial (RC) 
 

Existing Zoning 
Classification: 

Regional Commercial (RC) 
 

Site Size: Project site is 54,567 square feet  
Mountain Green Center is approximately 19.2 Acres 

Building/Suite Size: 5,001 square feet 
Access: N. Mountain Avenue and W. 7th Street and W. 8th Street 
Surrounding Land Uses:  

 
See Exhibit B – Vicinity Map 

Direction Land Use General 
Plan 

Zone 

North Mountain Green 
Center  and  

RC RC 

East Mountain 
Square Center  

RC RC 

South Mountain Green 
Center  and 
Mobil Gas 
Station  

RC RC 

West Mountain Green 
Center  and 
Wendy’s 
Restaurant 

RC and 
HC 

RC and 
HC 

 
AUTHORIZATION/GUIDELINES 
 
Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.040(C) states the Planning Commission shall 
approve, conditionally approve, or deny all conditional use permit applications.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
This project included multiple modes of notifying the public, in accordance with 
Upland Municipal Code (UMC) Section 17.46.020. 

 
1. On March 12, 2020, a Notice of Public Hearing was mailed to all property 

owners within 300 feet of the project site.  This resulted in a total of 10 
property owners being noticed. 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 3 of 8 

 
2. The Public Hearing Notice was posted in 2 physical locations (Upland City Hall 

and Upland Library) on March 12, 2020. 
 

3. The Public Hearing Notice was published in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin on 
March 13, 2020. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The project site is an improved out-parcel within the existing Mountain Green Center 
and previously contained the El Torito Restaurant.  The building was built in 1979-
80, and was occupied until 2018 when the business vacated the building.  Recent 
projects within the Mountain Green Center include “Corky’s” Restaurant, “Dunkin 
Donuts” and an “Aldi” grocery store. The subject building will be demolished in order 
to construct the proposed Chick fil-A with drive-through facilities.  The proposed 
project is the latest effort to revitalize the Mountain Green Center. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
General Plan 
 
The project site has a Regional Commercial (RC) General Plan land use designation 
and is within the Regional Commercial (RC) zone. According to the General Plan, the 
RC designation and zone is intended for the development of regional shopping centers 
and accompanying uses that are visible from a regional standpoint, such as near 
freeways and major arterials.  The proposed restaurant with drive-through facilities 
is a complementary use within the existing Mountain Green Center, and is highly 
visible from a major arterial (Mountain Avenue) and is consistent with the intent and 
purpose of the General Plan and Zoning Designation.  The project shows 
consideration for the following General Plan Goals and Policies shown in Table 1. 
 
Table 1 
General Plan Goal/Policy Consistency 
Policy LU-3.1 Economic Development. 
Retain and attract land uses that 
generate revenue to the City, provide 
employment for residents while 
balancing other community needs such 
as housing, parks and open space, and 
public facilities. 

The proposed use will provide a tax 
generating business and provide 
employment for residents. 

Policy LU-3.2 Economic Revitalization. 
Promote the development of vacant and 
underutilized parcels with higher 
intensity commercial and industrial land 
uses. 

The proposed project will result in the 
demolition of a vacant building, and the 
construction of a new higher intensity 
drive-through restaurant. 

Policy LU-3.5 Commercial Revitalization. 
Encourage the revitalization of aging 
commercial centers to improve the tax 
base and provide improved commercial 
services for the community. 

The proposed project is the latest 
project intended for the revitalization of 
the Mountain Green Center. 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 4 of 8 

 
(See Exhibit C – Vicinity Map of General Plan and Zoning Designations).     
 
Operational Characteristics 
 
The proposed Chick-fil-A Restaurant will occupy a new 5,001 sq. ft. building within 
the existing Mountain Green Center.  The business will include a new outdoor patio 
containing 5, 4-seat tables and 2, 2-seat handicap accessible tables. The restaurant 
and drive-through are anticipated to have operating hours between 6:00 am and 
10:00 pm, Monday through Saturday (closed Sunday’s).  
 
Development Plan/Standards 
 
The project complies with all required development standards within the RC District 
as shown in Table 2 below. 
 
Table 2 

Development Standard Code Requirement Provided 
Front Yard Setback (East) 15 feet 30 feet 
Rear Yard Setback (West) 10 feet 27 feet 
Side Yard Setback (North) 5 feet 7 feet 
Side Yard Setback (South) 5 feet 28 feet 

Building Height 40 feet 20 feet 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 1.0 (Site Wide 
Maximum) .38 (Appx. Site Wide) 

Minimum Landscape Area  10% 29% (of lease area) 
 
Site Plan 
 
The new building will be located on the east side of the Mountain Green Shopping 
Center, adjacent to Mountain Avenue, approximately 800 feet south of 8th Street 
and 400 feet north of 7th Street.  The site improvements will be limited to the 
applicants lease area, which includes the parcel containing the building, and a portion 
of the CVS parcel, which will contain the drive-through and parking lot.  The drive-
through entry is located north of the proposed restaurant, and loops clockwise around 
the building to the order window on the north side of the restaurant. The entrance to 
the new building, and the new outdoor seating area are both located at the west side 
of the building, with a secondary entry/exit at the east side of the building, and an 
emergency egress to the public right-of way (See Exhibit C – Site Plan). 
 
Parking & Circulation 
 
The property can be accessed by six existing driveways, two driveways along 
Mountain Avenue, two driveways along 7th Street and two driveways along 8th Street.  
The internal circulation on site is existing, and operates efficiently, and provides 
adequate access for the provision of emergency vehicles or any other public service 
vehicles.  The only area of modification to the on-site circulation is located north of 
the building, which is being adjusted to accommodate for a dual drive-through 
facility.  The area to be modified includes drive-isles and parking stalls in standard 
size and width, which will provide for adequate vehicle circulation.   



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 5 of 8 

 
After construction of the proposed use, the shopping center will provide a total of 959 
shared parking spaces.   The shopping center, with all uses on site, including the 
proposed Chick-fil-A Restaurant, require a total of 927 parking spaces.  This results 
in a surplus of 32 parking spaces, and thereby adequate for the proposed use and 
the other uses within the Center.  
 
Drive-through 
 
The proposed drive-through lane provides a total of 15 stacking spaces.  Typically, a 
minimum of 8 stacking spaces is provided for a drive-through, so the stacking 
provided is anticipated to be adequate for the proposed use.   In addition, Conditions 
of Approval are also included requiring the operator to take measures (e.g. Face to 
face ordering in the drive-through, staff drive-through control) to ensure adequate 
operation of the drive-through is maintained and that queuing is kept to a minimum 
so it does not result in any negative impacts to traffic circulation surrounding the 
project. It should be noted that Chick-fil-A regularly practices drive-through 
management techniques at other locations, to ensure the drive-through operates 
safely and appropriately.   
 
Landscaping 
 
The project includes new landscaping around the proposed building, as well as 
landscaping improvements along the new drive through, and improvements along 
the right of way frontage (See Exhibit D - Landscape Plans.)  The preliminary planting 
plan provided utilizes a variety of trees, shrubs and ground covers consistent with 
the revitalized center, which complement the new building. The drive-through is also 
screened from the street via a 25 foot landscape planter filled with multiple trees and 
several species of shrubs that will form a hearty hedge row along the Mountain 
Avenue frontage and the entrance into the center south of the building.  The 
landscape design and materials incorporated will provide an attractive environment, 
and complement the more recent drought-tolerant landscaping improvements 
provided by “Dunkin’ Donuts” and “Corky’s” restaurant. Conditions of Approval are 
included for landscape maintenance to ensure landscaping is maintained over time, 
and a Condition of Approval requiring a final landscape plan for review and approval 
by the Planning Division have been put into the Resolution for Planning Commission 
consideration. 
 
Outdoor Patio Dining and Seating 
 
Upland Municipal Code Section 17.32.030 (A) requires that outdoor dining areas 
require the approval of an Administrative Use Permit, unless the primary use requires 
a Conditional Use Permit for which the outdoor dining area shall also require a 
Conditional Use Permit. To approve an outdoor dining area, the approving body, in 
this case, the Planning Commission, must find that the following findings can be made 
in addition to the findings: 
 

a. The proposed outdoor dining area will not unreasonably interfere with 
pedestrian traffic or access. 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 6 of 8 

 
Staff Response: The proposed outdoor dining will be adjacent to the entrance, 
at west side of the building.  The layout of the outdoor seating area provides 
adequate space for pedestrians to access the building and parking lot. 

 
b. The proposed outdoor dining area will not have an undue adverse effect upon 

nearby property, the character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, 
or other matters affecting the public health, safety, welfare, or convenience. 

 
Staff Response: The proposed outdoor dining provides for additional seating 
options desirable for the operation of the restaurant. The outdoor seating area 
will be fenced off by a decorative tubular steel fencing and will include 
decorative landscaping around the perimeter.  Trash receptacles will be placed 
in the outdoor dining area to prevent littering.  The outdoor seating does not 
block any pedestrian or vehicle accessibility to the site or building and is 
anticipated to operate safely.  

 
Architectural Design 
 
The proposed building will be built in a modern style. The design proposes to include 
architectural elements such as decorative brick veneer finishes, metal canopy 
awnings and score lines.   All elevations emphasize three-dimensional detailing such 
as cornices, and reveals to cast shadows and create visual interest. The building 
massing is broken up with varied roof height and buildings walls with varied setbacks 
and pop-outs. The materials proposed on the facades will be of high-quality and of 
durable material to provide an attractive environment and reduce maintenance costs 
(See Exhibit E – Elevations).  Conditions of approval are included requiring some 
additional architectural detail be included on the east elevation, as the east elevation 
faces Mountain Avenue. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
 
Planning Division staff has determined that the project is categorically exempt from 
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. The 
project is considered to be exempt under Section 15332 (In-Fill Development 
Projects) as the project meets the following requirements:  
 

1. The project is consistent with the applicable General Plan designations and 
all applicable General Plan policies as well as with the applicable zoning 
designation and regulations. 
 

2. The proposed development occurs within the City limits on a project site of 
no more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses.  

 
3. The project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, rare or 

threatened species as the project site is fully developed. 
 

4. Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating 
to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. 

 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 7 of 8 

 
a. Traffic: A Traffic Analysis was prepared for the project which determined 

that the number of trips generated by the project would not create a 
significant impact. Trip rates were calculated based on the Restaurant 
w/Drive-Through Window (934) from the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers Trip Generation Manual. It was determined that the project 
would generate 1,126 total daily trips and 92 a.m. peak hour trips and 
38 p.m. peak hour trips. Staff required the applicant to provide a Level 
of Service (LOS) Analysis for surrounding intersections including 
Mountain Avenue and the existing project driveways, Mountain Avenue 
and 8th Street and Mountain Avenue and 7th Street.  The LOS Analysis 
found that, with the new project, the Level of service would be at a LOS 
C or better during both a.m. and p.m. peak hours, exceeding the 
General Plan Goal of maintaining an LOS D (General Plan Policy CIR-
1.1).  Therefore the project will not result in a significant impact related 
to traffic. (See Exhibit F – Traffic Summary) 
 

b. Noise: the project is required comply with the construction and 
operational noise and vibration requirements identified in the Noise 
Ordinance. Best Management Practices (BMP’s) have been included as 
Conditions of Approval to limit construction noise, resulting in a less than 
significant impact. 
 

c. Air Quality: The project will have a less than significant impact to Air 
Quality because the project complies with the General Plan.  Uplands 
General Plan and accompanying Climate Action plan provide strategies 
to address Air Quality and accounts for projects that are consistent with 
the General Plan, therefore all projects consistent with the General Plan 
are considered to have a less than significant impact on Air Quality. 
Additionally, to prevent any impact to Air Quality during construction of 
the project, standard BMP’s have been incorporated into the Conditions 
of Approval for the project. 
 

d. Water Quality: A Water Quality Management Plan was prepared for the 
project. It was determined through the review of the project’s 
preliminary water quality plan that the project would not result in a 
significant impact related to the water quality of the site or surrounding 
properties.  

 
5. The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public 

services. 
 
REQUIRED FINDINGS 
 
In order to approve the project, the Planning Commission is required to make certain 
findings.  Section 2 of the resolution contains recommended findings for the 
Conditional Use Permit and the Development Plan Review for the Planning 
Commission’s consideration. 
 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Chick-fil-A 

March 25, 2020 
Page 8 of 8 

 
TECHNICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
The Technical Review Committee reviewed the project, and recommended approval, 
subject to conditions of approval that have been incorporated into the resolution.  
The conditions of approval will ensure that the development meets all development 
standards within the Upland Municipal Code and will ensure that the proposed use is 
compatible with the surrounding land uses. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The Planning Division recommends the Planning commission adopt a Resolution 
entitled: 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP-19-0001, DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
REVIEW NO. DPR-19-0002, AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-
19-0002 FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A NEW 5,001 SQUARE FOOT DRIVE-
THROUGH RESTAURANT WITH OUTDOOR SEATING (CHICK-FIL-A) WITHIN AN 
EXISTING SHOPPING CENTER LOCATED AT 275 E. FOOTHILL BLVD (APN: 1045-551-
04). 
 
MOTION 
 

• Find the project is Categorically Exempt from the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (In-Fill Development Projects) 
of the CEQA Guidelines. 
 

• Approve Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-0001, Development Plan Review 
No. DPR-19-0002, and Environmental Assessment Review No. EAR-19-0002 
for the establishment of a new 5,001 square foot drive-through restaurant with 
outdoor seating. 

 
EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Draft Resolution 
Exhibit B: Vicinity Map 
Exhibit C: General Plan and Zoning Designation 
Exhibit D: Site Plan 
Exhibit E: Landscape Plans 
Exhibit F: Elevations 
Exhibit G: Traffic Analysis  
 
 



 

 

Exhibit A – Draft Resolution 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 
 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF UPLAND APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP-
19-0001, DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW NO. DPR-19-0002, 
AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-19-
0002 FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A NEW 5001 SQUARE 
FOOT DRIVE-THROUGH RESTAURANT WITH OUTDOOR 
SEATING (CHICK-FIL-A) WITHIN AN EXISTING SHOPPING 
CENTER LOCATED 335 S. MOUNTAIN AVENUE (APN: 1008-
131-05 AND 1008-131-04). 

 
Intent of the Parties and Findings: 
 

 WHEREAS, Kelsey Wu (Applicant) has filed applications requesting approval 
of the Project; 
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E.  Requires that if one 
or more permit application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, 
each application shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In 
this case, the highest review authority is the Planning Commission, therefore the 
Planning Commission shall make the final decision;  
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44 provides that the Planning 
Commission may attach conditions to the approval of the project as needed to ensure 
compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, other City Ordinances, the General Plan, and 
any other applicable community or specific plan, previously approved subdivisions 
and parcel maps  and easements;  
 

WHEREAS, the project is considered a project as defined by the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.;  

 
WHEREAS, The Development Services Director has determined that the project 

qualifies for a Categorical Exemption from the provisions of CEQA per Section 15332, 
Class 32, In-Fill Development Projects, of the CEQA Guidelines;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on March 12, 2020, posted 

two (2) true and correct copies of the legal notice at the Upland City Hall Bulletin 
Board and at the Upland Public Library in accordance with the Upland Municipal Code 
Section 17.46.020;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on March 12, 2020, mailed 

the public hearing notice to each property owner within a 300-foot radius of the 
project site indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state 
law concerning the Project;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on March 13, 2020, published 

a legal notice in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin, a local paper of general circulation, 
indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state law 
concerning the Project; and 

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 2 of 23 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed 

public hearing on March 25, 2020, at which time it received public testimony 
concerning the Project, and considered the CEQA Exemption for the proposed project 
and the project itself. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission hereby finds, determines and 

resolves and recommends as follows:  
 

Section 1. Actions taken by the Planning Commission: 
 

A. Approve Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-0001, Development Plan Review 
No. DPR-19-0002 for the establishment of a new 5,001 square foot drive-
through restaurant with outdoor seating. 

 
Section 2. FINDINGS.  The Planning Commission hereby makes the following 

findings and determinations in connection with the recommendation for approval of 
the Project:   

 
A. The above Recitals are true and correct. 

 
B. The project is consistent with the following General Plan Policies:  

 
1. Policy LU-3.1 Economic Development. Retain and attract land uses that 

generate revenue to the City, provide employment for residents while 
balancing other community needs such as housing, parks and open 
space, and public facilities”  
 
Fact: The proposed use will provide a tax generating business and 
provide employment for residents.  

 
2. Policy LU-3.2 Economic Revitalization. Promote the development of 

vacant and underutilized parcels with higher intensity commercial and 
industrial land uses. 
 
Fact: The proposed project will result in the demolition of a blighted 
building, and the construction of a new higher intensity drive-through 
restaurant.  

 
3. Policy LU-3.5 Commercial Revitalization. Encourage the revitalization of 

aging commercial centers to improve the tax base and provide improved 
commercial services for the community. 
 
Fact: The proposed project is the latest project intended for the 
revitalization of the Mountain Green Center. 

 
C. Per Section 17.44.040(F) the Planning Commission may approve an 

application for a Conditional Use Permit only if the proposed project complies 
with applicable standards in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 3 of 23 

 
General Plan, and any other applicable community or specific plans, and as 
supported by all of the following findings: 

 
1. Finding: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 

proposed use will be compatible with the existing and future land uses 
near the subject property.  
 
Evidence: The surrounding area is already developed with uses 
permitted in zone, and the proposed use will not negatively affect the 
overall character of the area. The proposed use will bring employees 
and customers into the area, and compliment the commercial center by 
offering additional services, in close proximity to an existing residential 
neighborhood.  A traffic analysis was included with the project, which 
found the Project will not have a significant impact on traffic.  
Additionally a parking analysis was prepared for the site, which found 
the site will have adequate parking for the project and existing land 
uses.   
    

2. Finding: The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 
shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency vehicle (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities. 
 
Evidence: The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 
shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities because the existing site and building provides sufficient space 
to accommodate the proposed use, and the center’s parking lot provides 
an adequate number of parking spaces to accommodate the proposed 
use.  Further, circulation on site will largely remain as existing, and is 
sufficient for public and emergency vehicle (e.g. fire and medical) 
access.  The drive-through provides ample stacking space for the 
operation of the drive-through, and conditions of approval are included 
to ensure successful operation.    

 
3. Finding: The proposed use will not be detrimental to the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the persons residing or working in the 
neighborhood of the proposed use. 
 
Evidence: No evidence exists to suggest that the proposed use will be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, or general welfare. 
Substantial investment in the area is proposed and the use will draw 
employees and some customers who will support other businesses in 
the area.  The use has been reviewed, and appropriate conditioned by 
Police and Fire Services, ensuring the public health, safety, and welfare 
of the community. 
 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 4 of 23 

 
D. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.030(H) provides that the approval body, 

before it may approve a Development Plan, shall make a determination to 
allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

 
1. Finding: The design and layout of the proposed project will not interfere 

with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures. 

 
Evidence: The design and layout of the proposed project will not 
interfere with the use and enjoyment of existing development and 
structures. The layout provides adequate parking and circulation, as well 
as stacking area in the drive-through lane.  Additionally, conditions of 
approval, regulating the operation of the use, including the drive-
through and Police Department Safety Conditions, are including to 
ensure that the operation of the site is not detrimental to the existing 
and future neighboring properties and structures.   

 
2. Finding: The proposed architectural design makes use of appropriate 

materials, texture, and color, and will remain aesthetically appealing 
and appropriately maintained. 

 
Evidence: The new building is designed to reflect a clean, contemporary 
aesthetic through the use of varying heights, varied building wall 
setbacks and multiple exterior materials.  A modern color scheme will 
compliment cantilever metal entry canopies and brick veneer.  The 
architectural design includes additional design elements around all sides 
of the building for a full 360 degree architecture design.  Conditions of 
Approval are included, such a graffiti removal and general maintenance 
requirements, to ensure the structure will remain aesthetically 
appealing and appropriately maintained. 

 
3. Finding: The proposed landscaping design, including color, location, 

size, texture, type, and coverage of plant materials, as well as provisions 
for irrigation, maintenance, and protection of landscaping elements, will 
complement structures and provide an attractive environment. 

 
Evidence: The proposed landscaping design meets the requirements of 
the Zoning Code. Landscaping shown on the preliminary landscape plan 
exhibits, including color, location, size, texture, type, and coverage of 
plant materials, as well as provisions for irrigation, maintenance, and 
protection of landscaping elements, will complement structures and 
provide an attractive environment.   

 
4. Finding: The proposed design will not be materially detrimental to the 

public health, safety, or welfare, or be injurious to the property or 
improvements in the vicinity of the proposed project. 

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 5 of 23 

 
Evidence: The design of the project complies with all applicable 
development standards, which includes an aesthetic design that is 
compatible with the surrounding environment, adequate emergency 
vehicle access, security lighting, and adequate landscaping. Therefore 
the project will not be detrimental to public health and welfare.  
 

Upland Municipal Code Section 17.32.030 (A) provides that the approval body, before 
it may approve outdoor dining, shall make a determination to allow the activity based 
upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The proposed outdoor dining area will not unreasonably 
interfere with pedestrian traffic or access. 
 
Evidence: The proposed outdoor dining will be adjacent to the front 
door, at west side of the building.  The layout of the outdoor seating 
area provides adequate space for pedestrians to access the building and 
parking lot. 

 
2. The proposed outdoor dining area will not have an undue adverse effect 

upon nearby property, the character of the neighborhood, traffic 
conditions, parking, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, 
welfare, or convenience. 
 
Evidence: The proposed outdoor dining provides for additional seating 
options desirable for the operation of the restaurant. The outdoor 
seating area will be fenced off by a decorative tubular steel fencing and 
will include decorative landscaping around the perimeter.  Trash 
receptacles will be placed in the outdoor dining area to prevent littering.  
The outdoor seating does not block any pedestrian or vehicle 
accessibility to the site or building and is anticipated to operate safely. 
 

Section 3. DETERMINATION.  In light of the evidence presented at the hearing 
on this application, and based on the findings set forth above, the Planning 
Commission hereby finds that the requirements necessary for the recommendation 
of approval of the Project, subject to all applicable provisions of the Upland Municipal 
Code, and the following conditions of approval: 
 
10.0 General Conditions 
 

10.1. All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 
the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 

 
10.2. Prior to issuance of permits, the development plans shall be subject to 

plan check with the Planning Division, Building Division, Engineering 
Division, Public Works Department and Fire Department. 

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 6 of 23 

 
10.3. No building permits shall be issued until rough grading has been certified 

by the Engineer of Record, and a building permit has been issued by the 
Building Division. 

 
10.4. All landscaped areas shall be maintained in a healthy and thriving 

condition, free from weeds, trash, and debris at all times.  Dead, 
damaged, and/or missing landscaping shall be replaced/replanted, 
subject to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. 

 
10.5. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, 

defend and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors 
serving as City officers, agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free 
and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 
whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, 
or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or 
supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance of work or 
the exercise of rights authorized by approval of Conditional Use Permit 
No. CUP-19-0001 and Development Plan Review No. DPR-19-0002 
(project); and (ii) any and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions 
arising out of, or related to the approval of this Project and/or the 
granting or exercise of the rights authorized by said approval; and (iii) 
from any and all claims, liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to 
any person, firm, entity, corporation for property damage, personal 
injury, or death, arising out of or related to the approval of, or exercise 
of rights granted by, this Project. Applicant's obligation to indemnify, 
defend, and hold the Indemnitees free and harmless as required 
hereinabove shall include, but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs 
incurred by legal counsel of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the 
Indemnitees in connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or 
actions, and any award of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or 
attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit or action. 
 

10.6. The applicant and recorded property owner of the property shall submit 
to the Development Services Department written evidence of agreement 
with all conditions of this approval before the approval becomes 
effective. 

 
10.7. Expansion of project beyond the scope and nature of the project, which 

would increase the projected scale of the project, shall not be permitted 
except upon application for and approval of modification to this 
Approval. 
   

10.8. The developer shall not engage in any construction activities other than 
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, except in 
case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety or as 
otherwise approved by the Development Services Director (UMC 
9.40.100 M). 

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 7 of 23 

 
10.9. Termination of approval if either: (1) development has not been 

diligently commenced and actively pursued to completion thereafter 
within a two (2) year period from the date of approval (i.e. March 25, 
2022); or, (2) if the use approved hereunder is discontinued for a period 
of one hundred and eighty days or longer; or, (3) non-compliance with 
any provision of the Upland Municipal (UMC) not specifically waived in 
compliance with City procedures. 

 
20.0 Planning Division Conditions  
 

20.1 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant is required to 
submit a final landscape and irrigation plan for review and approval by 
the Planning Division.  Landscape plans will include all open space areas, 
common landscaped area and right-of-way landscaping. 
 

20.2 Prior to the issuance of permits, the applicant is required to submit a 
photometric plan, as part of the plans submitted to Building and Safety 
for plan check, for review and approval by the Planning Division. 
 

20.3 Operation of the drive-through shall be managed, to the satisfaction of 
the Development Services Director, to ensure, to the greatest extent 
feasible, traffic does not spill onto the Public right-of-way.  

 
20.4 Prior to the issuance of building permits the applicant shall include, on 

the plans submitted for building permits, additional architectural 
enhancements on the east elevation of the building, facing onto 
Mountain Avenue to the satisfaction of the Development Services 
Director. 

 
20.5 Prior to the issuance of building permits the applicant shall include, on 

the plans submitted for building permits, trellises over all the windows 
on the south side of the building to the satisfaction of the Development 
Services Director.  

 
20.6 Structures and paved areas shall be structurally sound and maintain a 

clean and orderly appearance. 
 

20.7 Menu speakers shall be equipped with sensors that ensure the menu 
speakers volume do not exceed the ambient noise levels permitted 
within the zone. 

 
20.8 The applicant shall comply with a maintenance requirements in Upland 

Municipal Code Section 17.16.  Structures or paved areas displaying 
any, but not limited to, evidence of the following shall be considered 
substandard and in violation of this Condition: 

 
a. Broken or missing foundation. 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 8 of 23 

 
b. Warping, bowing, or sagging of headers, sills, beams, eaves, 

doorways, doorjambs, or other similar structural members. 

c. Inadequate site drainage and/or standing water adjacent to building 
foundations. 

d. Broken or inoperable sanitary and plumbing facilities and/or fixtures. 

e. Faulty, sagging, or leaking roof or rain gutter. 

f. Missing roof tiles or other visible roofing material(s). 

g. Broken or missing windows. 

h. Holes in siding. 

i. Peeling or cracking paint. 

j. Damaged or deteriorating structures shall be repaired immediately. 

20.9 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 
Management Practices for noise management during construction. 

 
a. Re-route truck traffic away from residential streets, if possible. Select 

streets with fewest homes, if no alternatives are available.  
 
b. Locate equipment on the construction lot as far away from noise 

sensitive receivers as possible.  
 
c. Combine noisy operations to occur in the same time period. The total 

noise will not increase significantly and the duration of the noise 
impact will be less.  

 
d. Use specially quieted equipment when possible, such as quieted and 

enclosed air compressors, residential or critical grade mufflers on all 
engines.  

 
e. Stationary equipment will be located as far away from sensitive 

receptors as possible. Loud, disrupting construction activities in noise 
sensitive areas will be conducted during hours that are least 
disturbing to adjacent and nearby residents.  

 
f. If noise above the stated regulation will be generated for long periods 

of time, construct barriers to block the line of sight to noise sensitive 
receivers.  

 
20.10 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 

Management Practices for air quality management during construction. 
Prior to issuance of any Grading Permit, the Development Services 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 9 of 23 

 
Director and the Engineering/Land Development Division shall confirm 
that the Grading Plan, Building Plans, and specifications stipulate that, 
in compliance with SCAQMD Rule 403, excessive fugitive dust emissions 
shall be controlled by regular watering or other dust prevention 
measures, as specified in the SCAQMD’s Rule and Regulations. In 
addition, SCAQMD Rule 402 requires implementation of dust 
suppression techniques to prevent fugitive dust from creating a nuisance 
offsite. Implementation of the following measures would reduce short-
term fugitive dust impacts on nearby sensitive receptors: 
 
a. All active portions of the construction site shall be watered twice daily 

to prevent excessive amounts of dust; 

b. Non-toxic soil stabilizers shall be applied to all inactive construction 
areas (previously graded areas inactive for 20 days or more, 
assuming no rain), according to manufacturers’ specifications; 

c. All excavating and grading operations shall be suspended when wind 
gusts (as instantaneous gust) exceed 25 miles per hour; 

d. On-site vehicle speed shall be limited to 15 miles per hour; on-site 
roads shall be paved as soon as feasible, watered twice daily, or 
chemically stabilized; 

e. Visible dust shall not cross the property line; 

f. All material transported off-site shall be either sufficiently watered 
or securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust prior to 
departing the job site; 

g. Track-out devices shall be used at all construction site access points; 

h. All delivery truck tires shall be watered down and/or scraped down 
prior to departing the job site; 

i. A construction relations officer shall be appointed to act as a 
community liaison concerning on-site construction activity including 
resolution of issues related to fugitive dust generation; 

j. Streets shall be swept at the end of the day if visible soil material is 
carried onto adjacent paved public roads and use of SCAQMD Rule 
1186 and 1186.1 certified street sweepers or roadway; and 

k. Replace ground cover in disturbed areas as quickly as possible. 

30.0 Public Works Conditions 
 

I GENERAL ENGINEERING  



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 10 of 23 

 
30.1 Owner/Developer is required to arrange for a PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

MEETING with the Public Works Department 72 hours in advance before 
any permitted work can commence.  

 
30.2 Public improvement plans and grading plans shall be submitted for plan 

check to the Public Works Department as a complete package.  A 
complete package includes street; sewer, water, grading, drainage, and 
any appropriate reports and back up documents.  Incomplete submittals 
shall be rejected.  

 
30.3 All plans (including Landscaping Plans) depicting any work to be plan 

checked by Public Works shall be prepared on 24”x36” on City Standard 
title block.  This includes street, sewer, water grading, storm drain, 
grading, erosion control, private street design, and landscape plans. 
“Cut and paste,” “sticky-backs,” “zip a-tone,” “Kroy lettering,” or other 
tape will not be permitted on mylars.  

 
30.4 As-built plans (including street, sewer, water, and storm drain and 

grading plans) shall be submitted. Electronic drawing files on compact 
disc (CD’s) shall be submitted to the City for file in the format acceptable 
by the City.  

 
30.5 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 

the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval.  

 
30.6 No certificate of occupancy, or any other final clearance needed prior to 

occupancy, shall be given until all other conditions are met.  
 
30.7 A trash bin for organic waste is required and must be provided by this 

project.   
 

30.8 A grease trap for waste water and food solids is required and must be 
provided by this project.   

 
30.9 Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy the required 

traffic/circulation improvements shall be completed to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department. 

 
30.10 Asphalt paving and other existing public improvements damaged during 

construction shall be replaced to the City’s satisfaction.  
 
30.11 All public improvements (interior streets, drainage facilities, landscaped 

areas, etc.) shown on the plans and/or tentative map shall be 
constructed to City Standards.  Interior street improvements shall 
include, but are not limited to, curb and gutter, AC pavement, drive 
approaches, sidewalks, streetlights, and street trees.  

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 11 of 23 

 
30.12 In accordance with California Building Code, Title 24 and the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), handicap 
facilities shall be constructed and existing facilities shall be 
reconstructed within the project limits, as necessary, in locations 
specified by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer and the 
Development Services Director. No work may commence without a valid 
permit. For work within the City right-of-way or encroachment area, a 
separate encroachment is required. 

 
II UTILITY (WATER – SEWER – ENVIRONMENTAL)  
 
Utility General  
 
30.13 All utility companies (for non-City owned utilities) shall be contacted to 

establish appropriate easements to provide services to each parcel.   
 
30.14 All lots shall be served by utilities, allowing each parcel/lot to function 

separately and independent from one another.  
 
30.15 The Owner/Developer is responsible for research on private utility lines 

(Gas, Edison, Telephone, Cable, Irrigation, etc.) to ensure there are no 
conflicts with the site.  

 
30.16 All existing on-site utility lines, if any, that conflict with this project shall 

be relocated, removed, or sealed to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Director.  

 
30.17 Composite Utility Plans shall be submitted before the issuance of a 

Grading Permit.  Any easements will be dedicated to the appropriate 
Utility Company as required to accommodate the location and 
maintenance of each facility.  

 
Undergrounding  
 
30.18 All parcel/lots shall be served by underground utilities.  All utility plans 

(Edison, Telephone, and Cable TV, among others) shall be submitted to 
the Public Works Department for review and approval prior to the 
issuance of any permits for utility work within public right-of-way or 
public easements.  

 
Environmental  
 
30.19 This project is subject to the General Construction Permit for Storm 

Water Discharges.  The Owner/Developer is required to file a Notice of 
Intent (NOI) with the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) for 
construction activities.  A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) shall be prepared and be available at the job site at all times.  
A copy of the Waste Discharger’s Identification Number (WDID) from 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 12 of 23 

 
the SWRCB shall be provided to the City before the issuance of grading 
or building permits.  

 
30.20 This project is required to submit a Water Quality Management Plan 

(WQMP) (reference City Of Upland “Construction Stormwater 
Guidelines” and the County of San Bernardino “Guidelines for New 
Development and Redevelopment”) for review and approval by the City 
Of Upland, Public Works Department Environmental Division.  The 
WQMP shall include a description and map of the project along with an 
outline of structural and non-structural Best Management Practices 
(BMPs), which apply to the project pursuant to the “New Development 
and Redevelopment Guidelines.”  The subject WQMP shall be approved 
prior to the issuance of grading permit. 

 
30.21 WQMP is required to be bounded. Exhibits must be complete and legible. 

Standard paper size for exhibits is 24” x 36”.  
 

30.22 WQMP must include calculation to meet Design Capture Volume 
required.   

 
Sewer  
 
30.23 All proposed on-site sewer mains and water mains shall be a public 

system maintained by the City. A 26 foot wide easement is required to 
be dedicated to the City. Drainage facilities shall be maintained by the 
owner/ property owners association which shall be established in the 
Center’s Covenant, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&R).  

 
30.24 City staff will inspect all newly installed sewer mains with the TV camera 

before acceptance of the line for public improvements.  
 
30.25 The Owner/Developer shall provide the necessary Sewer Service 

Backflow Prevention Device as required by the City.  
 
Water  
 
30.26 A separate water meter shall be provided for each building (including 

any necessary easements to provide such services) prior to the 
occupancy.  

 
30.27 The provision of fire protection water systems, hydrants, and 

appropriate easements shall be in conformance with the Upland Fire and 
Public Works Department Standards.  

 
30.28 All landscape meter(s) and approved Backflow Device(s) shall be 

installed and inspected, in accordance with the Public Works Department 
Standards.  

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 13 of 23 

 
30.29 All water facilities shall be installed outside any driveways and drive 

approaches, and shall be in accordance with the Public Works 
Department Standards.  

 
III GRADING - STORM DRAIN - EROSION CONTROL  
 
30.30 Storm drain system(s) shall be constructed in accordance with the City's 

Master Plan applicable to the project site and to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director.  

 
30.31 A hydrology/hydraulics analysis is required to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director.  Any offsite drainage, which may impact this 
development, or additional drainage created by this development, shall 
be addressed in accordance with the mitigation measures required in 
the hydrology report before issuance of any permits.  

 
30.32 All drainage shall be directed on-site at the points so indicated upon the 

subject map/plan (any deviation will require resubmittal to the Technical 
Review Committee for approval).  

 
30.33 Location, direction, and devices for conveying site drainage directed to 

a street shall be subject to review and approval by the Public Works 
Director.  

 
30.34 Temporary drainage controls may be required during construction 

phases as directed by the Public Works Director.  
 
30.35 All catch basins and Storm Drain Inlet Facilities shall be stenciled with 

the appropriate “No Dumping” message.   
 
30.36 Grading plan shall be prepared and shall conform to the requirements 

of California Building Code (CBC), latest edition. Said grading plan shall 
propose all recommendations contained in the project’s geotechnical 
report.   

 
30.37 An erosion control plan shall be required as directed by the Public Works 

Director.  
 
30.38 No permanent building construction shall commence until the final 

grading and improvement plans have been approved, rough grading 
certified and a building permit issued by the Building Division.  

 
30.39 Owner/Developer shall submit design and calculations and obtain permit 

and inspection for all development perimeter and retaining walls from 
the Building Division. Construction of any masonry/retaining wall shown 
on the plans or reference thereto shall require separate permit from 
Building Division.  

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 14 of 23 

 
30.40 Owner/Developer is required to prepare Water Conservation Plan for its 

grading and construction operations in compliance to water conservation 
mandate by the State of California. Use of reclaimed water is highly 
encouraged.  

 
30.41 Dust Control operations shall be performed by the Contractor at the 

time, location and in the amount required and as often as necessary to 
prevent the excavation or fill work, demolition operation, or other 
activities from producing dust in amounts harmful to people or causing 
a nuisance to persons living nearby or occupying buildings in the vicinity 
of the work.  The Contractor is responsible for compliance with Fugitive 
Dust Regulations issued by the Air Quality Management District (AQMD).  

 
30.42 Control of dust shall be by sprinkling of water, use of approved dust 

preventatives, modifications of operations or any other means 
acceptable to the Engineer, City of Upland, the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB), the AQMD, and any Health or Environmental 
Control Agency having jurisdiction over the facility.  The Engineer shall 
have the authority to suspend all construction operations if, in their 
opinion, the Contractor fails to adequately provide for dust control.  

 
30.43 In compliance to water conservation mandate of the State of California, 

before or at submission of grading plans, Owner/Developer shall 
submit/develop Water Conservation Plan. Among others, said plan 
encourages the use of reclaimed water and use of any/all water 
conservation measures during construction.  

 
30.44 A project specific Water quality Management Plan (WQMP) shall be 

submitted with the grading plan, drainage plan, and geotechnical report. 
 
IV LANDSCAPING  
 
30.45 Any landscaping proposed within a City utility easement is subject to 

approval by the Public Works Director and Community Development 
Director.  

 
30.46 All landscape and irrigation systems, located in the public parkways, 

shall be connected to a water supply system that is metered to the 
property owner.  

 
30.47 All developments require a tree-planting scheme.  
 

a. If planting in an area without sidewalk, plant the trees four feet to 
six feet from the existing or planned curb or street  

 
b. Plant trees a minimum of five feet from other utilities, a minimum of 

ten feet from driveways, water meters, water lines, sewer lines, 
traffic and directional signs, and fire hydrants, a minimum of fifteen 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 15 of 23 

 
feet from street lights, and a minimum of thirty feet from street 
corners.  

 
30.48 The project frontage shall be fully landscaped, including an automatic 

irrigation system in accordance with a plan subject to review and 
approval by the Community Development Director and the Public Works 
Director. Drought tolerant and water efficient irrigation system shall be 
required. Parkway landscaping shall be maintained by the 
Owner/Developer.  

 
30.49 Before the final approval of streetscape plans (landscaping, irrigation 

systems, walls and/or fences, etc.), the hardscape portion of the plan(s) 
shall be designed by a registered engineer, and submitted to the 
Community Development Director for review and approval.  

 
30.50 After City approval of the landscaping plan, the Owner/Developer shall 

provide 180-day maintenance during the plant establishment period.   
 
40.0 Police Department 

40.1 The approved conditions shall be retained on the premises at all 
times and produced immediately upon request of the Upland 
Police Department, and City Planning.  

 
40.2 A 6-month review/inspection shall be conducted to ensure 

permittee’s compliance with all operating conditions.  
 
40.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits the project must be 

enclosed with a 6-ft. high chain link fence to prevent access to 
construction areas by the public and to minimize theft of building 
materials and equipment.  

 
40.4 Graffiti abatement by the business owner/licensee shall be 

immediate and ongoing on the licensed premises, but in no event 
shall graffiti be allowed unabated on the premises for more than 
48 hours. Abatement shall take the form of removal or shall be 
covered/painted over with a color reasonably matching the color 
of the existing building, structure, or other surface being abated. 
Additionally, the business owner/licensee shall notify the City 
within 24 hours of any graffiti elsewhere on the property not 
under the business owner/licensee’s control so that it may be 
abated by the property owner.  

 
40.5 The Developer, builder, contractors, sub-contractors, and any 

other persons associated with this project shall adhere to the 
Upland Municipal Code (UMC) dealing with unnecessary noises 
under section 9.40.100. Furthermore, prior to the beginning of 
construction, a sign shall be posted at the entrance of the 
property educating everyone entering as to the authorized 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 16 of 23 

 
construction times and failure to comply with such requirements 
will result in an immediate citation for violating the 
aforementioned UMC section.  

 
40.6 Units with front and rear drive access shall affix or paint address 

numbering/lettering in a conspicuous location, free from plant 
obstruction, and readily visible to emergency services personnel 
on both front and rear accesses.  

 
40.7 Each building that has a flat roof shall be required to have the 

address numbering painted on the roof, as close to the center of 
the roof as possible, and at least 15 feet (or as far as possible if 
less than 15 feet) from roof mounted equipment or exhaust 
stacks, to assist helicopter patrols in quick location of the 
building. Numbering must be at least 12 inches wide, 48 inches 
tall, and be painted in contrast to the background on which it is 
affixed.  

 
40.8 Hinges for outwardly swinging doors or hatchway covers shall be 

equipped with non-removable hinge pins or a mechanical 
interlock system to prevent removal of the door from the exterior 
by removal of the hinge pins.  

 
40.9 All hatchways shall be secured from the interior of the building 

with a sliding bolt or bar mechanism.  
 
40.10 If the hatchway cover is of a wooden material, it shall be 

reinforced with at least 16-gauge U.S. sheet steel, or its 
equivalent, on the interior face of the cover and shall be attached 
with screws no more than six inches apart around the entire 
perimeter of the interior face cover.  

 
40.11 Building design and window placement shall facilitate high 

visibility to the public and police patrol vehicles as well as 
enabling employees to make periodic visual inspections of the 
premises.  

 
40.12 All exterior lighting lower than 12 feet from the ground level shall 

be enclosed in vandal-resistant covers.  
 
40.13 Lighting shall be required in all area of public access.  
 
40.14 Public parking areas and access thereto shall be provided with a 

maintained minimum of 2 foot candle power of light on the 
parking surface, from dusk to dawn, or as modified by the Chief 
of Police, based on documented proof that meeting the 2 foot 
candle power standard is impractical. Lighting shall be provided 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 17 of 23 

 
through the use of photo cells; use of low pressure sodium 
fixtures and bulbs is prohibited.  

 
40.15 At a minimum, internally illuminated address signs/numbers are 

required for each building, to the satisfaction of the Deputy Fire 
Marshal and the Chief of Police.   

 
40.16 Signs prohibiting loitering shall be installed to the satisfaction of 

the Chief of Police. They shall be mounted between six and ten 
feet above ground. The following must be printed on the sign in 
letters at least two inches tall: “PC647(h), UMC10.72.010.” and 
“NO LOITERING IS ALLOWED ON OR IN FRONT OF THESE 
PREMISES.” The signs shall be posted on the front, rear, and 
sides of the building, and shall be clearly visible to patrons of the 
licensee. 

 
40.17 Signs shall comply with all City of Upland sign requirements 

(UMC 17.15 et seq.). No more than 50% of the total window 
area and clear doors shall bear advertising or signs of any sort. 
Window signs shall be placed and maintained in a manner so 
that there is a clear and unobstructed view of the interior of the 
premises from the public sidewalk or entrance to the premises 
(this applies to all windows of this location).   

 
40.18 A digital video surveillance system is required at the premise. It 

is recommended to have a surveillance video/visual media that 
shall be maintained for a minimum of sixty (60) days and upon 
request, shall be accessible to law enforcement personnel for 
viewing, copying and collection purposes during regular business 
hours. The system shall be able to make license plates 
discernable. The video system shall cover all ingress and egress 
points of the businesses parking lots, the building itself, drive-
thru area, and the rear perimeter of the building.  

 
40.19 Provide UPD with contact information of person responsible for 

maintaining video equipment/system and who has access to 
retrieve and copy surveillance video. The surveillance 
video/visual media shall be remotely accessible to the Upland 
Police Department.  

 
40.20 All landscaping must adhere to the 2’ 6’ rule (all ground cover 

landscaping must be maintained no higher than 2’ from ground 
level and all lower tree canopy must be maintained no lower than 
6’ in height from the ground level).  

 
40.21 Any vehicles not parked legally may be cited and/or towed if it 

is in violation of the California Vehicle Code and/or Upland 
Municipal Code.  



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 18 of 23 

 
50.0 Building and Safety  
 

50.1 All construction documents submitted for plan check shall be designed 
to be in compliance with City of Upland Construction Codes. 

50.2 Soils report is required at the time of plan check submittal. 

50.5 A demolition permit of existing building will only be issued after new 
building plan submittal. 

50.6 The applicant shall provide all required abatement reports required prior 
to building demolition.  

60.0 San Bernardino County Fire  
 

60.1 Building plans shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review and 
approval. 

 
60.2 Prior to combustibles being placed on the project site an approved all-

weather fire apparatus access surface and operable fire hydrants with 
acceptable fire flow shall be installed.  The topcoat of asphalt does not 
have to be installed until final inspection and occupancy. 

 
60.3 The required fire fees shall be paid to the San Bernardino County Fire 

Department/Community Safety Division. 
 
60.4 Prior to any land disturbance, the water systems shall be designed to 

meet the required fire flow for this development and shall be approved 
by the Fire Department.  The required fire flow shall be determined by 
using California Fire Code. The Fire Flow for this project shall be: 1500 
GPM for a 2 hour duration at 20 psi    residual operating pressure.    

 
60.5 A water system approved and inspected by the Fire Department is 

required.  The system shall be operational, prior to any combustibles 
being stored on the site.  Fire hydrants shall be spaced no more than 
three hundred (300) feet apart (as measured along vehicular travel-
ways) and no more than three hundred (300) feet from any portion of 
a structure. 

 
60.6 Commercial and industrial developments of 100,000 sq. ft or less shall 

have the street address installed on the building with numbers that are 
a minimum six (6) inches in height and with a three quarter (3/4) inch 
stroke. The street address shall be visible from the street.  During the 
hours of darkness, the numbers shall be electrically illuminated (internal 
or external). Where the building is two hundred (200) feet or more from 
the roadway, additional non-illuminated contrasting six (6) inch 
numbers shall be displayed at the property access entrances. 

 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 19 of 23 

 
60.7 Hand portable fire extinguishers are required.  The location, type, and 

cabinet design shall be approved by the Fire Department. 
 
60.8 An automatic fire sprinkler system complying with NFPA Pamphlet #13 

and the Fire Department standards is required. The applicant shall hire 
a licensed (C-16) fire sprinkler contractor.  The fire sprinkler contractor 
shall submit plans to the with hydraulic calculation and manufacturers 
specification sheets to the Fire Department for approval and approval.  
The required fees shall be paid at the time of plan submittal. 

 
60.9 An automatic hood and duct fire extinguishing system is required.  A 

licensed contractor (C-16) shall submit detailed plans with manufactures 
specification sheets to the Fire Department for review and approval.  The 
required fees shall be paid at the time of plan submittal. 

 
60.10 Blue reflective pavement markers indicating fire hydrant locations shall 

be installed as specified by the Fire Department.  In areas where snow 
removal occurs or non-paved roads exist, the blue reflective hydrant 
marker shall be posted on an approved post along the side of the road, 
no more than three (3) feet from the hydrant and at least six (6) feet 
high above the adjacent road. 

 
60.11 An approved Fire Department key box is required.  
 
60.12 Permission to occupy or use the building (certificate of Occupancy or 

shell release) will not be granted until the Fire Department inspects, 
approves and signs off on the Building and Safety job card for “fire final” 

 
60.13 In addition to the Fire requirements stated herein, other onsite and 

offsite improvements may be required which cannot be determined from 
tentative plans at this time and would have to be reviewed after more 
complete improvement plans and profiles have been submitted to this 
office.  Two exits are required from the restaurant based on the 
occupant load. 

 
60.14 The above referenced project is under the jurisdiction of the San 

Bernardino County Fire Department herein “Fire Department”.  Prior to 
any construction occurring on any parcel, the applicant shall contact the 
Fire Department for verification of current fire protection requirements.  
All new construction shall comply with the current California Fire Code 
requirements and all applicable status, codes, ordinances and standards 
of the Fire Department. 

 
70.0 Trash Services 

 
70.1 The use is required to participate in a food waste recycling program 

under AB1826. Therefore, the enclosure shall be sized to accommodate 
at least three commercial bins.  



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 20 of 23 

 
70.2 Prior to issuance of grading permits, the developer or their contractor 

shall contact Burrtec to coordinate the preparation and implementation 
of a Construction Waste Management Plan. 

 
80.0    Review/Compliance 

80.1 The Planning Commission may review the use 90 days, 180 days, and 
on an annual basis following the date of final inspection, or as needed 
at the discretion of the Development Services Director, to determine 
whether the applicant and operators are operating the use in a manner 
that is compatible with the community.  The Planning Commission may 
establish additional conditions of approval that are necessary to 
eliminate any issues that arise from the operation of the use that 
adversely impact the public health, welfare, and safety, or may direct 
staff to initiate revocation proceedings.  The conditional use permit may 
be revoked if the permittee, his agents or assigns, or employee(s) of 
the establishment, or any other person connected or associated with the 
permittee or his business establishment, or any person who is exercising 
managerial authority of the business establishment has: 

 
a. Violated any rule, regulation, or condition of approval adopted by the 

Planning Commission relating to the conditional use permit or 
contained in the Upland Municipal Code, or state or federal 
regulations. Violation of any provision of the Upland Municipal Code 
(UMC) or the conditions of approval set forth in this resolution, shall 
be deemed to constitute an infraction of the Upland Municipal Code, 
and shall be subject to the applicable fines and penalties, including 
the possibility of revocation of this permit.  

 
b. Conducted the operation permitted hereunder in a manner contrary 

to the peace, health, safety, and general welfare of the public, or in 
a manner which either generates or contributes to noise and/or 
health/sanitation nuisances, or which results in undesirable activities 
that negatively affects adjacent properties or creates an increased 
demand for public services. 

 
Section 4. CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA). The project 

is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, 
Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California 
Environmental Quality Act, since the proposed project is consistent with applicable 
general plan designations and policies as well as applicable zoning designation and 
regulations; occurs within city limits on a property that is no more than five acres 
substantially surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare 
or threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

Section 5.  APPEAL.  Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 17.47.040, 
the decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council provided 



 
CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 21 of 23 

 
that written notice of the appeal is filed with the City Clerk within ten (10) days 
following the date the decision was rendered, unless a longer appeal period is 
specified as part of the project approval.  Failure to file a timely appeal shall constitute 
a waiver of the right of appeal, and the decision of the Planning Commission shall be 
final. 
 

Section 6.  INCONSISTENCY.  If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase 
or portion of this resolution or the document in the record in support of this resolution 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
unconstitutional or otherwise void, that determination shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining sections, divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  



CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 22 of 23 

Section 7.  CERTIFICATION.  The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall certify 
to the passage, approval, and adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause this 
Resolution and their certification to be entered in the Book of Resolutions of 
the Planning Commission of the City. 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 25th day of March, 2020. 

_________________________________ 
Robin Aspinall, CHAIR 

 



CUP-19-0001 
DPR-19-0002 Page 23 of 23 

ATTEST:

____________________________ 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 25th day of March, 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

____________________________ 
Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 



Exhibit B – Vicinity Map 



Exhibit B – Vicinity Map 



Exhibit C – General Plan and     

Zoning Designation  



EXHIBIT C – GENERAL PLAN AND ZONING 

General Plan 



EXHIBIT C – GENERAL PLAN AND ZONING 

Zoning 



Exhibit D – Site Plan 



DRIVE AISLE

D
R

IV
E

A
IS

LE

D
R

IV
E

A
IS

LE

Information contained on this drawing and in all
digital files produced for above named project
may not be reproduced in any manner without
express written or verbal consent from
authorized project representatives.

Chick-fil-A
5200 Buffington Road

Atlanta, Georgia
30349-2998

NO. DATE DESCRIPTION
REVISION SCHEDULE

A

FSR#

C
H

IC
K

-F
IL

-A

1

B

C

D

E

A

B

C

D

E

234

1234

5

5

I:\
C

hi
ck

-fi
l-A

\1
7-

Jo
bs

\1
7-

14
2

33
5

N
M

ou
nt

ai
n

A
ve

.,
U

pl
an

d,
C

A\
G

ra
ph

ic
s\

30
D

W
G

\0
0

Ti
tle

Sh
ee

ts
\0

02
04

40
0

SP
-1

.d
w

g
S

he
et

N
o:

S
P

-1
S

av
ed

by
:t

ok
hi

-T
hu

rs
da

y,
Ja

nu
ar

y
23

,2
02

0
2:

46
PM

P
rin

te
d

by
:M

an
zo

or
To

kh
i-

Ja
nu

ar
y

23
,2

02
0

3:
17

PM

1833 17TH Street;  Suite 301
SANTA ANA,   CA 92705
phone 714.832.1834



Exhibit E – Landscape Plan 



104 SEATS

P13 SE LRG - Q4

GROSS 5,001 S.F.

LANDCADD 1987

Information contained on this drawing and in all

digital files produced for above named project

may not be reproduced in any manner without

express written or verbal consent from

authorized project representatives.

ARCHITECT'S PROJECT #

PRINTED FOR

DATE

SHEET

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWN BY

Chick-fil-A

5200 Buffington Road

Atlanta, Georgia

30349-2998

NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

REVISION SCHEDULE

A

FSR#

C
H

I
C

K
-
F

I
L

-
A

1

B

C

D

E

A

B

C

D

E

234

1234

5

5

\
\
M

a
c
\
D

r
o

p
b

o
x
 
f
o

r
 
B

u
s
i
n

e
s
s
\
H

o
u

r
i
a

n
 
T

e
a

m
 
F

o
l
d

e
r
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
s
\
C

F
A

\
N

e
w

 
L

o
c
a

t
i
o

n
s
\
C

A
\
C

F
A

 
I
-
1

0
 
M

o
u

n
t
a

i
n

 
A

v
e

.
_

U
p

l
a

n
d

,
 
C

A
_

4
4

0
0

\
0

5
-
0

4
4

0
0

-
L

1
.
0

P
L

P
-
P

R
E

L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 
P

L
A

N
.
d

w
g

 
 
 
 
S

h
e

e
t
 
N

o
:
 
P

R
E

L
I
M

 
L

S
 
P

L
A

N
 
 
 
S

a
v
e

d
 
b

y
:
 
n

i
c
o

l
e

 
-
 
F

r
i
d

a
y
,
 
J
a

n
u

a
r
y
 
1

0
,
 
2

0
2

0
 
4

:
2

7
 
P

M
 
 
 
 
P

r
i
n

t
e

d
 
b

y
:
 
N

i
c
o

l
e
 
-
 
J
a

n
u

a
r
y
 
1

0
,
 
2

0
2

0
 
4

:
2

8
 
P

M

4400

17-142

ENTITLEMENT

10/01/19

1
0
 
F

W
Y

 
&

 
M

O
U

N
T

A
I
N

 
A

V
E

.
 
F

S
U

3
3
5
 
N

.
 
M

O
U

N
A

T
I
N

 
A

V
E

.
 
U

P
L

A
N

D
,
 
C

A
.
 

Date

Renewal Date

Signature

1288

9-30-21

p: 949.489-5623  efax: 858.810.0335

107  avenida  miramar ,  suite  d   
 san  clemente ,  california  92672

e: team@hourianassociates.com

01/09/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDCADD 1987

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDCADD 1987

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDCADD 1987

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
16"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
14"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
14"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
14"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
14"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
14"%%C

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
36'

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(POSSIBLE ABANDONED IRRIGATION)

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNTAIN AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNTAIN    AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USHRUBS/VINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UTREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBOTANICAL NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USYMBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UREMARKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UCOMMON NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UQTY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UWUCOLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U#4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORAL ALOE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED YUCCA

AutoCAD SHX Text
15 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RHUS LANCEA

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
AFRICAN SUMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERCIS OCCIDENTALIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTERN REDBUD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURUS NOBILIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAY LAUREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE GLOW AGAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGAVE 'BLUE GLOW'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK ANTHER FLAX LILY

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOTHER-IN-LAW'S TONGUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEER GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
136

AutoCAD SHX Text
142

AutoCAD SHX Text
63

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
233

AutoCAD SHX Text
202

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
340

AutoCAD SHX Text
196 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
r

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALOE STRIATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCTAPUS AGAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGAVE VILMORINIANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIANELLA REVOLUTA 'LITTLE REV'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIANELLA TASMANICA 'VARIEGATA'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAX LILY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HESPERALOE PARVIFLORA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HESPERALOE PARVIFLORA 'YELLOW'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANTANA MONTEVIDENSIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURUS NOBILIS 'SARATOGA' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUHLENBERGIA RIGENS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANSEVERIA TRIFASCIATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEUCOPHYLLUM CANDIDUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEYMUS CONDENSATUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALVIA GREGGII 'RED STAR'

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED YUCCA

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAY LAUREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VIOLET SILVERLEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILD RYE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN SAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
'SILVER CLOUD'

AutoCAD SHX Text
'CANYON PRINCE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UGROUNDCOVERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLATS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,453 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE CHALKSTICKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECIO SERPENS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
458

AutoCAD SHX Text
STIPA TENUISSIMA

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREES TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PALMS TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: ALL GROUNDCOVER LANDSCAPING MUST BE MAINTAINED NO HIGHER THAN 2' FROM GROUND LEVEL & ALL TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPIES MUST BE MAINTAINED NO LOWER THAN 6' IN HEIGHT FROM GROUND LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
proposed/new SHRUB AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
proposed/new TURF AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL proposed/new LANDSCAPE AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,077 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
0 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,077 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
total site area

AutoCAD SHX Text
61,699 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
existing shrub/landscape area

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,151 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
proposed/new shrub area %%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.3%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
existing shrub/landscape area %%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.4%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOURIAN ASSOCIATES, INC. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
landscape architecture + design

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
JGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
VB

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTRACTOR IS TO REVIEW PLANS, VERIFY SITE CONDITIONS AND PLANT QUANTITIES  PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. CONFLICTS BETWEEN THE SITE AND THESE PLANS OR WITHIN THESE PLANS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE OWNER'S AUTHORIZED  REPRESENTATIVE PRIOR TO LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION.  ANY DEVIATION(S) FROM THE  PLANS OR SPECIFICATIONS IS TO HAVE WRITTEN APPROVAL.  ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF  "AMERICAN NURSERY AND LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATION" STANDARDS. www.anla.org LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL APPROVE PLANT MATERIAL PLACEMENT BY CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. CONTRACTOR TO INCLUDE IN HIS BID THE REPAIR OF ANY AND ALL DAMAGE RESULTING FROM INSTALLATION OF PLANTING ITEMS.  CONNECT TO EXISTING CONDITIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERIMETTER OF ALL RAISED PLANTERS TO HAVE A ROOT BARRIER TO REDIRECT ROOT GROWTH PER MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS. FINISH GRADE TO BE 2" BELOW TOP OF CURB OR SIDEWALK FOR PLANTING AREAS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1. 2. 3. 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5. 6.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL PLANTED AREAS BY MEANS OF CONTINUOUS WATERING, PRUNING, RAISING TREE BALLS WHICH SETTLE BELOW GRADE, FERTILIZING, APPLICATION OF SPRAYS WHICH ARE NECESSARY TO KEEP THE PLANTINGS  FREE OF INSECTS AND DISEASES, WEEDING, AND/OR OTHER OPERATIONS NECESSARY FOR PROPER CARE AND UPKEEP. THE LANDSCAPE  CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL PLANTINGS AS SPECIFIED ABOVE FOR A PERIOD OF  NINETY (90) DAYS. ALL PLANTER BEDS TO BE AMENDED WITH SOIL PREPARATION PER SPECIFICATIONS. NO DEVIATIONS ARE ALLOWED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERTILIZER FOR ALL PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE AS SPECIFIED WITHIN THE SOILS REPORT. ALL PLANTING AND IRRIGATION ON THIS PROJECT TO MEET OR EXCEED CITY LANDSCAPE GUIDELINES, STANDARDS AND AGENCY REQUIREMENTS. ALL PLANTER AREAS SHALL BE TOP DRESSED WITH 3" MINIMUM MULCH COVER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7. 8. 9. 10.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL PLANTING SHALL BE IRRIGATED WITH LOW VOLUME SPRAY HEADS, BUBBLERS AND/OR DRIP EMITTERS CONNECTED TO AUTOMATIC REMOTE CONTROL VALVES AND AND TIED INTO AN AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION CONTROLLER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING NOTES



 

 

Exhibit F – Elevations 

 



 

0 10 20 30

NORTH ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION

COLOR AND MATERIAL LEGEND
STC-1
BR-1
EC-1

Note:
All roof top mechanical equipment shall be located in
equipment well and screened from view by parapet walls.

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18  
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

A-1

Stucco - STO - Powerwall "White"
Brick Veneer - Boral Brick - Color: Citadel
Parapet Wall Coping - Durolast/Exceptional Metals - Dark Bronze (Matte)
Aluminum Awning - Color: Dark Bronze

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA

21' 8"

SOUTH ELEVATION WEST ELEVATION

Stucco   STC-1

Stucco     STC-1

Parapet Wall Coping      EC-1

Parapet Wall Coping       EC-1

Aluminum Awning -    A-1

Brick Veneer     BR-1

Brick Veneer     BR-1

Aluminum Awning -     A-1

21' 8"

9' 8"9'-8" 9' 0"



NORTHWEST VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



SOUTHWEST VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



SOUTHEAST VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



NORTHEAST VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



NORTH VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



BIRDS EYE VIEW

File Name: 17142 Upland, CA - Color Elevations 12-13-18
01-16-19
02-12-19
10-02-19

PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS 
I-10 & Mountain Ave. - Upland, CA



 

 

Exhibit G – Traffic Analysis 

 



TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 

CHICK-FIL-A 
Upland, California 

December 23, 2019 

Prepared for: 

CHICK-FIL-A, INC. 
15635 Alton Parkway, Suite 350 

Irvine, CA 92618 
 

 

LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Prepared by: Under the Supervision of: 

             Daniel A. Kloos, P.E.   Keil D. Maberry, P.E. 
               Associate Principal Principal 
         and 
           Justin Tucker 
              Transportation Engineer II 

 

 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION         PAGE 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................... vi 

1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Study Area ......................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Traffic Impact Analysis Components ................................................................................ 2 

1.3 Traffic Impact Analysis Scenarios .................................................................................... 2 

2.0 Project Description and Location ............................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Site Access ........................................................................................................................ 3 

3.0 Analysis Conditions and Methodology..................................................................................... 4 

3.1 Existing Street Network .................................................................................................... 4 

3.2 Existing Traffic Volumes .................................................................................................. 4 

3.3 Level of Service (LOS) Analysis Methodologies ............................................................. 5 

3.3.1 Highway Capacity Manual 6 (HCM 6) Method of Analysis                  

(Signalized Intersections)..................................................................................... 5 

3.3.2 Highway Capacity Manual 6 (HCM 6) Method of Analysis             

(Unsignalized Intersections) ................................................................................ 5 

3.3.2.1 Two-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections ............................................................. 5 

3.3.2.2 All-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections ............................................................... 5 

3.4 Impact Criteria and Thresholds ......................................................................................... 6 

3.5 Existing Level of Service Results ..................................................................................... 6 

4.0 Traffic Forecasting Methodology ........................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Project Traffic Characteristics ............................................................................................... 11 

5.1 Project Trip Generation Forecast .................................................................................... 11 

5.2 Project Trip Distribution and Assignment ....................................................................... 12 

6.0 Future Traffic Conditions ....................................................................................................... 14 

6.1 Existing With Project Traffic Volumes ........................................................................... 14 

6.2 Year 2021 Without Project Traffic Volumes .................................................................. 14 

6.2.1 Ambient Growth Traffic .................................................................................... 14 

6.2.2 Cumulative Projects Traffic ............................................................................... 14 

6.3 Year 2021 With Project Traffic Volumes ....................................................................... 15 

7.0 Existing Plus Project Analysis ................................................................................................ 19 

7.1 Existing Traffic Conditions ............................................................................................. 19 

7.2 Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions ......................................................................... 19 

8.0 Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project Analysis ........................................................................ 21 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 

SECTION         PAGE 

 

8.1 Year 2021 Cumulative Traffic Conditions ...................................................................... 21 

8.2 Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project Traffic Conditions .................................................. 21 

9.0 Recommended Improvements ................................................................................................. 23 

9.1 Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions ......................................................................... 23 

9.2 Year 2021 Plus Project Traffic Conditions ..................................................................... 23 

10.0 Site Access and Internal Circulation Evaluation .................................................................. 24 

10.1 Site Access ...................................................................................................................... 24 

10.2 Internal Circulation Evaluation ....................................................................................... 24 

10.3 Drive-Through Queuing Analysis ................................................................................... 24 

11.0 Congestion Management Program (CMP) Assessment ....................................................... 27 

 

 

 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

iii 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX  

A. Traffic Study Scope of Work 

B. Existing Traffic Count Data 

B-I Intersection Counts 

C. Existing Traffic Conditions Intersection Level of Service Calculation Worksheets 

C-I Existing Traffic Conditions 

C-II Existing With Project Traffic Conditions 

D. Year 2021 Traffic Conditions Intersection Level of Service Calculation Worksheets 

D-I Year 2021 Without Project Traffic Conditions 

D-II Year 2021 With Project Traffic Conditions 

E. Drive-Through Queuing Study Data 

 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

iv 

  LIST OF FIGURES 

SECTION – FIGURE # FOLLOWING PAGE 

1–1 Vicinity Map .................................................................................................................................. 2 

2–1 Existing Site Aerial ........................................................................................................................ 3 

2–2 Proposed Site Plan ......................................................................................................................... 3 

3–1 Existing Roadway Conditions and Intersection Controls .......................................................4 

3–2 Existing AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .................................................................................. 4 

3–3 Existing PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ................................................................................... 4 

5–1 Project Traffic Distribution Pattern ......................................................................................13 

5–2 AM Peak Hour Project Traffic Volumes .................................................................................. 13 

5–3 PM Peak Hour Project Traffic Volumes ................................................................................... 13 

6–1 Existing With Project AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .......................................................... 18 

6–2 Existing With Project PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ........................................................... 18 

6–3 Location of Cumulative Projects .......................................................................................... 18 

6–4 AM Peak Hour Cumulative Projects Traffic Volumes ......................................................... 18 

6–5 PM Peak Hour Cumulative Projects Traffic Volumes .......................................................... 18 

6–6 Year 2021 Without Project AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ................................................. 18 

6–7 Year 2021 Without Project PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ................................................. 18 

6–8 Year 2021 With Project AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ...................................................... 18 

6–9 Year 2021 With Project PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ....................................................... 18 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

v 

LIST OF TABLES 

SECTION-TABLE# PAGE 

3-1  Level of Service Criteria For Signalized Intersections (HCM 6 Methodology) ..............   7 

3-2  Level of Service Criteria For Unsignalized Intersections (HCM 6 Methodology) .........  8 

3-3  Existing Peak Hour Levels of Service .............................................................................  9 

5-1 Project Traffic Generation Forecast .......................................................................................   13 

6-1 Location and Description of Cumulative Projects ................................................................  16-17 

6-2 Cumulative Projects Trip Generation Forecast .....................................................................  18 

7-1 Existing Plus Project Conditions Peak Hour Intersection Capacity Analysis Summary ......  20 

8-1 Year 2021 Conditions Peak Hour Intersection Capacity Analysis Summary .......................  22 

10-1 Drive-Through Lane Queuing Lane Analysis Summary .....................................................  26 

 

 

 

 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

vi 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Project Description 

 The proposed Chick-fil-A Project is generally located on the west side of Mountain Avenue 

and north of 7th Street and the I-10 Freeway in the City of Upland, California. The Project 

proposes to raze the existing 9,401 square-foot (SF) vacant El Torito restaurant and construct 

a 4,863 SF Chick-fil-A restaurant with drive-through window and drive-through queue 

storage of 15 vehicles.  The Project is expected to be constructed in one phase and fully 

operational by the Year 2021. 

 Access to the Project is currently provided and will continue to be provided via the one (1) 

full-access signalized driveway located along Mountain Avenue (i.e. key study intersection 

#2), the one (1) right-turn in/right-turn out only unsignalized driveway located along 

Mountain Avenue (i.e. key study intersection #4) and the one (1) full-access unsignalized 

driveway located along 7th Street (i.e. key study intersection #5) 

Study Area 

 Five (5) key study intersections were designated for evaluation based on San Bernardino 

County Congestion Management Program (CMP) criteria and discussions with City of 

Upland staff.  The five (5) key study intersections selected for evaluation provide local and 

regional access to the study area and consist of the following: 

1. Mountain Avenue at 8th Street (Upland) 

2. Mountain Avenue at Mountain Green Shopping Center Driveway (Upland) 

3. Mountain Avenue at 7th Street (Upland) 

4. Mountain Avenue at Existing Project Driveway No. 1 (Upland) 

5. Existing Project Driveway No. 2 at 7th Street (Upland) 

Project Trip Generation 

 The proposed Project is forecast to generate approximately 1,717 daily trips, with 99 trips (50 

inbound, 49 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and 79 trips (41 inbound, 38 

outbound) produced in the PM peak hour on a “typical” weekday.  The existing vacant El 

Torito restaurant generates approximately 591 daily trips, with 7 trips (4 inbound, 3 

outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and 41 trips (28 inbound, 13 outbound) produced 

in the PM peak hour on a “typical” weekday. 

 When the proposed Project is compared to the existing vacant El Torito restaurant trip 

generation, the Project is forecast to result in a net addition of 1,126 daily trips, with a net 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

vii 

addition of 92 trips (46 inbound, 46 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and a net 

addition of 38 trips (13 inbound, 25 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour on a “typical” 

weekday.  The potential impact of these net additional trips have been assessed in the traffic 

study.  It should be noted that the existing vacant El Torito restaurant trips (i.e. 591 daily 

trips, 7 AM peak hour trips, 41 PM peak hour trips) have been included as part of the 

background traffic forecast 

Cumulative Projects Description 

 The twenty-six (26) cumulative projects are expected to generate 17,646 daily trips (one half 

arriving, one half departing) on a “typical” weekday, with 1,203 trips (418 inbound and 785 

outbound) forecast during the weekday AM peak hour and 1,503 trips (859 inbound and 644 

outbound) forecast during the weekday PM peak hour.  

Traffic Impact Analysis 

Existing Traffic Conditions 

 For Existing traffic conditions, all of the existing key study intersections currently operate at 

an acceptable level of service (i.e. LOS C or better) during the AM and PM peak hours. 

Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

 For Existing With Project traffic conditions, the proposed Project will not significantly 

impact any of the five (5) key study intersections when compared to the LOS standards and 

significant impact criteria specified in this report. The five (5) key study intersections 

currently operate and are forecast to continue to operate at an acceptable LOS C or better 

during the AM and PM peak hours with the addition of Project generated traffic to existing 

traffic.  

Year 2021 Cumulative Traffic Conditions 

 For Year 2021 Cumulative traffic conditions, all five (5) of the key study intersections are 

forecast to operate at an acceptable level of service (i.e. LOS C or better) during the AM and 

PM peak hours when compared to the LOS standards defined in this report.  

Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

 For Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project traffic conditions, the proposed Project will not 

significantly impact any of the five (5) key study intersections when compared to the LOS 

standards and significant impact criteria specified in this report. The five (5) key study 

intersections are forecast to continue to operate at an acceptable LOS C or better during the 

AM and PM peak hours with the addition of project generated traffic in the Year 2021. 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

viii 

Recommended Improvements 

Existing With Project Traffic Conditions 

 The results of the “Existing Plus Project” intersection capacity analysis indicates that the 

proposed Project will not significantly impact any of the five (5) key study intersections.  

Given that there are no significant project impacts, no improvements are required under 

Existing Plus Project traffic conditions. 

Year 2021Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

 The results of the “Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project” intersection capacity analysis 

indicates that the proposed Project will not significantly impact any of the five (5) key study 

intersections.  Given that there are no significant project impacts, no improvements are 

required under Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project traffic conditions. 

Site Access and Internal Circulation Evaluation 

 The three (3) Project driveways are forecast to operate at acceptable service levels during the 

AM and PM peak hours under Existing Plus Project traffic conditions and Year 2021 

Cumulative Plus Project traffic conditions.  As such, project access will be adequate.  

Motorists entering and exiting the Project site will be able to do so comfortably, safely, and 

without undue congestion. 

 The on-site circulation layout of the proposed Project on an overall basis is adequate. Curb 

return radii have been confirmed and are generally adequate for small service/delivery 

(FedEx, UPS) trucks and trash trucks. 

 The proposed Project will provide storage for up to 15 vehicles within the proposed drive-

through lane without encroaching into the drive aisle.  Therefore, the 85th percentile expected 

queues can be accommodated without interfering with internal circulation or causing 

congestion to the drive aisle.  It should be further noted that the proposed 15 vehicle storage 

drive-through lane can also accommodate the observed 95th percentile queues of the five (5) 

study sites.  Lastly, it should be noted that the maximum queue of 17 vehicles can be 

accommodated on-site within the drive aisles.  

Even though it is anticipated that the proposed drive-through lane will accommodate all 

potential queues on site; Chick-fil-A staff will implement the following program, on an as-

needed basis during their peak operating times, to further ensure that vehicles will not queue 

back onto the public streets.  The program consists of the following as provided by Chick-fil-

A management staff: 

 “Our restaurants are staffed so that if the drive-thru queuing begins stacking onto the 

street, team members go out and assist with ordering via Chick-fil-A’s iPad ordering 



 

 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

ix 

system.  Our operators use the iPad ordering during our peak hours of 11:30 am to 1:30 

pm and any additional time when needed.  The iPad ordering system allows team 

members to take orders, receive payment, and assist with traffic movement within the 

parking lot. 

Based on data from our other comparable stores, the iPad ordering system increases the 

CFA drive thru speed of service by 30% than the typical speaker box.  Putting people 

forward in the drive-through is one of our biggest competitive advantages in the market 

because it personally connects our team members with our valued guest.  We want to 

continue this momentum by building a platform to supporting current and future 

innovations that increase capacity and put our people forward to care for our guest in 

every interaction.  Our customers enjoy the face to face ordering over the standard drive-

thru experience.”   

CMP Assessment 

The CMP requires that a traffic impact analysis be conducted for any project generating 250 or more 

peak hour trips. As noted in Section 5.0 of this traffic study, the proposed Project is forecast to 

generate 92 AM peak hour trips and 38 PM peak hour trips and thus does not meet the criteria 

requiring a CMP TIA.  



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

1 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 

CHICK-FIL-A 
Upland, California 
December 23, 2019 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

This traffic impact analysis addresses the potential traffic impacts and circulation needs associated 

with the proposed Chick-fil-A Project (hereinafter referred to as Project). The Project proposes to 

raze the existing 9,401 square-foot (SF) vacant El Torito restaurant and construct a 4,863 SF Chick-

fil-A restaurant with drive-through window.  The Project site is generally located on the west side of 

Mountain Avenue and north of 7th Street and the I-10 Freeway in the City of Upland, California.  

This report documents the findings and recommendations of a traffic impact analysis conducted by 

Linscott, Law & Greenspan, Engineers (LLG) to determine the potential impacts associated with the 

Project. The traffic analysis evaluates the existing operating conditions at five (5) key study 

intersections within the Project vicinity, estimates the trip generation potential of the Project, and 

forecasts future operating conditions without and with the proposed Project. Where necessary, 

intersection improvements/mitigation measures are identified.  

This traffic report satisfies the traffic impact requirements of the City of Upland and is consistent 

with the most current Congestion Management Program (CMP) for San Bernardino County.  The 

Scope of Work for this traffic study, which is included in Appendix A, was developed in conjunction 

with City of Upland Development Services and Public Works Department staff. 

The Project site has been visited and an inventory of adjacent area roadways and intersections was 

performed. Existing peak hour traffic information has been collected at five (5) key study 

intersections for use in the preparation of intersection level of service calculations.  Information 

concerning cumulative projects (planned and/or approved) in the vicinity of the proposed Project has 

been researched at the Cities of Upland, Montclair, and Ontario.  Based on our research, there are 

fifteen (15) cumulative projects in the City of Upland, six (6) cumulative projects in the City of 

Montclair, and five (5) cumulative projects in the City of Ontario within the vicinity of the subject 

site.  These twenty-six (26) planned and/or approved cumulative projects were considered in the 

cumulative traffic analysis for this project.  

This traffic report analyzes existing and future weekday AM peak hour and PM peak hour traffic 

conditions for a near-term (Year 2021) traffic setting upon completion of the proposed Project.  Peak 

hour traffic forecasts for the Year 2021 horizon year have been projected by increasing existing 

traffic volumes by an annual growth rate of 2.0% per year and adding traffic volumes generated by 

twenty-six (26) cumulative projects. 

1.1 Study Area 

Five (5) key study intersections were designated for evaluation based on San Bernardino County 

Congestion Management Program (CMP) criteria and discussions with City of Upland staff.  The 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

2 

five (5) key study intersections selected for evaluation provide local and regional access to the study 

area and consist of the following: 

1. Mountain Avenue at 8th Street 

2. Mountain Avenue at Mountain Green Shopping Center Driveway 

3. Mountain Avenue at 7th Street 

4.  Mountain Avenue at Existing Project Driveway No. 1 

5.  Existing Project Driveway No. 2 at 7th Street 

1.2 Traffic Impact Analysis Components 

The Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) Delay and corresponding Level of Service (LOS) 

calculations at the key study locations were used to evaluate the potential traffic-related impacts 

associated with area growth, cumulative projects and the Project. When necessary, this report 

recommends intersection improvements that may be required to accommodate future traffic volumes 

and restore/maintain an acceptable Level of Service and/or addresses the impact of the Project. 

Included in this Traffic Impact Analysis are: 

 Existing Traffic Counts, 

 Estimated Project trip generation/distribution/assignment, 

 Estimated Cumulative Projects trip generation/distribution/assignment, 

 AM and PM peak hour capacity analyses for Existing (Year 2019) Conditions,  

 AM and PM peak hour capacity analyses for Existing (Year 2019) Conditions with 

Project traffic, 

 AM and PM peak hour capacity analyses for Near-Term (Year 2021) Conditions without 

and with Project traffic, 

 Recommended Improvements, if any, 

 Site Access and Internal Circulation Evaluation, and 

 Drive-Through Queuing Analysis. 

Figure 1-1 presents a Vicinity Map, which illustrates the general location of the Project and depicts the 

study locations and surrounding street system.  

1.3 Traffic Impact Analysis Scenarios 

The following scenarios are those for which Delay and corresponding LOS calculations have been 

performed at the key intersections for existing and near-term traffic conditions: 

A. Existing (Year 2019) Traffic Conditions, 

B. Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions, 

C. Scenario (B) with Recommended Improvements, if any, 

D. Year 2021 Cumulative Traffic Conditions, 

E. Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project Traffic Conditions, and 

F. Scenario (G) With Recommended Improvements, if any. 





 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

3 

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

The Project site is generally located on the west side of Mountain Avenue and north of 7th Street and 

the I-10 Freeway in the City of Upland, California. The Project site is located within the existing 

Mountain Green shopping center and will reoccupy the existing vacant El Torito restaurant. Figure 

2-1 presents an existing aerial photograph for the proposed Project. 

Based on review of the proposed site plan prepared by CRHO Architects, the proposed Project will 

consist of razing the existing 9,401 SF vacant El Torito restaurant and constructing a 4,863 SF 

Chick-fil-A restaurant with drive-through window and drive-through queue storage of 15 vehicles. 

The Project is expected to be constructed in one phase and fully operational by the Year 2021. 

Figure 2-2 presents the proposed site plan prepared by CRHO Architects. 

2.1 Site Access 

Access to the Project is currently provided and will continue to be provided via the one (1) full-

access signalized driveway located along Mountain Avenue (i.e. key study intersection #2), the one 

(1) right-turn in/right-turn out only unsignalized driveway located along Mountain Avenue (i.e. key 

study intersection #4) and the one (1) full-access unsignalized driveway located along 7th Street (i.e. 

key study intersection #5).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

4 

3.0 ANALYSIS CONDITIONS AND METHODOLOGY 

3.1 Existing Street Network 

The I-10 Freeway provides primary regional access to the proposed Project. The I-10 Freeway runs 

in the east-west direction, south of the Project site. The Principal local network of streets serving the 

site consists of Mountain Avenue, 8th Street, and 7th Street. The following discussion provides a brief 

synopsis of the key area streets.  

Mountain Avenue is a north-south roadway that borders the Project site on the east. Mountain 

Avenue is a six-lane divided roadway. Parking is not permitted along either side of the roadway 

within the immediate vicinity of the Project. Mountain Avenue has a posted speed limit of 40 miles 

per hour (mph) in the immediate vicinity of the Project. The intersections of Mountain Avenue and 

8th Street, Mountain Green Shopping Center Driveway, and 7th Street are controlled by traffic 

signals. The intersection of Mountain Avenue and Project Driveway No. 1 is stop-controlled. 

8th Street is an east-west, four-lane divided roadway located north of the Project site. 8th Street has a 

posted speed limit of 40 mph in the immediate vicinity of the Project. Parking is not permitted along 

either side of the roadway within the immediate vicinity of the Project.  

7th Street is an east-west, four-lane divided roadway located south of the Project site. 7th Street has a 

posted speed limit of 40 mph in the immediate vicinity of the Project. Parking is not permitted along 

either side of the roadway within the immediate vicinity of the Project. The intersection of 7th Street 

and Project Driveway No. 2 is stop-controlled. 

Figure 3-1 presents an inventory of the existing roadway conditions for the arterials and 

intersections evaluated in this report. This figure identifies the number of travel lanes for key 

arterials, as well as intersection configurations and controls for the key area study intersections. 

3.2 Existing Traffic Volumes 

Five (5) key study intersections have been identified as the locations at which to evaluate existing 

and future traffic operating conditions. Some portion of potential Project-related traffic will pass 

through each of these intersections, and their analysis will reveal the expected relative impacts of the 

Project. These key locations were selected for evaluation based on San Bernardino County 

Congestion Management Program (CMP) criteria and discussions with City of Upland staff.  

The data collection for the five (5) key study intersections was conducted by Transportation Studies, 

Inc. in November 2019.  Figures 3-2 and 3-3 illustrate the existing AM and PM peak hour traffic 

volumes at the key study intersections evaluated in this report, respectively. Appendix B contains the 

detailed peak hour traffic count sheets for the key intersections evaluated in this report.   









 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

5 

3.3 Level of Service (LOS) Analysis Methodologies 

AM and PM peak hour operating conditions for the key study intersections were evaluated using the 

methodology outlined in Chapter 19 of the Highway Capacity Manual 6 (HCM 6) for signalized 

intersections, the methodology outlined in Chapter 20 of the HCM 6 for two-way stop-controlled 

intersections, and the methodology outlined in Chapter 21 of the HCM 6 for all-way stop-controlled 

intersections.  

3.3.1 Highway Capacity Manual 6 (HCM 6) Method of Analysis (Signalized Intersections) 

Based on the HCM operations method of analysis, level of service for signalized intersections and 

approaches is defined in terms of control delay, which is a measure of the increase in travel time due 

to traffic signal control, driver discomfort, and fuel consumption. Control delay includes the delay 

associated with vehicles slowing in advance of an intersection, the time spent stopped on an 

intersection approach, the time spent as vehicles move up in the queue, and the time needed for 

vehicles to accelerate to their desired speed. LOS criteria for traffic signals are stated in terms of the 

control delay in seconds per vehicle. The LOS thresholds established for the automobile mode at a 

signalized intersection are shown in Table 3-1.  

3.3.2 Highway Capacity Manual 6 (HCM 6) Method of Analysis (Unsignalized Intersections) 

The HCM unsignalized methodology for stop-controlled intersections was utilized for the analysis of 

the unsignalized intersections. LOS criteria for unsignalized intersections differ from LOS criteria 

for signalized intersections as signalized intersections are designed for heavier traffic and therefore a 

greater delay. Unsignalized intersections are also associated with more uncertainty for users, as 

delays are less predictable, which can reduce users’ delay tolerance. 

3.3.2.1 Two-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections 

Two-way stop-controlled intersections are comprised of a major street, which is uncontrolled, and a 

minor street, which is controlled by stop signs. Level of service for a two-way stop-controlled 

intersection is determined by the computed or measured control delay. The control delay by 

movement, by approach, and for the intersection as a whole is estimated by the computed capacity 

for each movement. LOS is determined for each minor-street movement (or shared movement) as 

well as major-street left turns. The worst side street approach delay is reported. LOS is not defined 

for the intersection as a whole or for major-street approaches, as it is assumed that major-street 

through vehicles experience zero delay. The HCM control delay value ranges for two-way stop-

controlled intersections are shown in Table 3-2. 

3.3.2.2 All-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections 

All-way stop-controlled intersections require every vehicle to stop at the intersection before 

proceeding. Because each driver must stop, the decision to proceed into the intersection is a function 

of traffic conditions on the other approaches. The time between subsequent vehicle departures 

depends on the degree of conflict that results between the vehicles and vehicles on the other 

approaches. This methodology determines the control delay for each lane on the approach, computes 

a weighted average for the whole approach, and computes a weighted average for the intersection as 

a whole. Level of service (LOS) at the approach and intersection levels is based solely on control 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

6 

delay. The HCM control delay value ranges for all-way stop-controlled intersections are shown in 

Table 3-2. 

3.4 Impact Criteria and Thresholds 

According to City of Upland General Plan Policy CIR-1.1c, dated March 2015, “Strive to maintain 

LOS D at all intersections outside of the Downtown Specific Plan area and the Transit Priority 

Roadways except where such improvements are physically infeasible or would negatively impact 

bicyclists, pedestrians, or transit patrons.”  Based on the above, LOS “D” is the minimum 

acceptable condition that should be maintained during the peak commute hours. Hence, any 

intersection operating at LOS “E” or “F” is considered deficient/unsatisfactory.  

In the event that an intersection is operating at or is forecast to operate at a deficient LOS, the CMP 

guidelines have defined a series of steps to be completed to determine the Project’s contribution to 

the deficiency of intersections. The steps are as follows: 

1. Determine the mitigation measures necessary to achieve an acceptable service level. 

2. Calculate the Project’s share in the future traffic volume projections for the peak hours. 

3. Estimate the cost to implement recommended mitigation measures. 

4. Calculate the Project’s fair-share contribution to offset the project’s traffic impacts. 

3.5 Existing Level of Service Results 

Table 3-3 summarizes the existing peak hour service level calculations for the five (5) key study 

intersections based on existing traffic volumes and current street geometry. Review of Table 3-3 

indicates that all five (5) key study intersections currently operate at acceptable levels of service 

during the AM and PM peak hours when compared to the LOS criteria identified in this report.  

Appendix C presents the Delay/LOS calculations for the five (5) key study intersections for the AM and 

PM peak hour. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

7 

TABLE 3-1 

LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA FOR SIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS (HCM 6 METHODOLOGY)1 

Level of Service  

(LOS) 

Control Delay Per Vehicle  

(seconds/vehicle) Level of Service Description 

A < 10.0 

This level of service occurs when progression is 

extremely favorable and most vehicles arrive during the 

green phase. Most vehicles do not stop at all. Short cycle 

lengths may also contribute to low delay. 

B > 10.0 and < 20.0 

This level generally occurs with good progression, short 

cycle lengths, or both. More vehicles stop than with LOS 

A, causing higher levels of average delay. 

C > 20.0 and < 35.0 

Average traffic delays. These higher delays may result 

from fair progression, longer cycle lengths, or both. 

Individual cycle failures may begin to appear at this level. 

The number of vehicles stopping is significant at this 

level, though many still pass through the intersection 

without stopping. 

D > 35.0 and < 55.0 

Long traffic delays At level D, the influence of 

congestion becomes more noticeable. Longer delays may 

result from some combination of unfavorable progression, 

long cycle lengths, or high v/c ratios. Many vehicles stop 

and the proportion of vehicles not stopping declines. 

Individual cycle failures are noticeable. 

E > 55.0 and < 80.0 

Very long traffic delays This level is considered by many 

agencies to be the limit of acceptable delay. These high 

delay values generally indicate poor progression, long 

cycle lengths and high v/c ratios. Individual cycle failures 

are frequent occurrences. 

F  80.0 

Severe congestion This level, considered to be 

unacceptable to most drivers, often occurs with over 

saturation, that is, when arrival flow rates exceed the 

capacity of the intersection. It may also occur at high v/c 

ratios below 1.0 with many individual cycle failures. Poor 

progression and long cycle lengths may also be major 

contributing factors to such delay levels. 

 

                                                 
1 Source: Highway Capacity Manual 6, Chapter 19: Signalized Intersections. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

8 

TABLE 3-2 

LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA FOR UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS (HCM 6 METHODOLOGY)2,3 

Level of Service  

(LOS) 

Highway Capacity Manual (HCM)  

Delay Per Vehicle (seconds/vehicle) 

 

Level of Service Description 

A  10.0 Little or no delay 

B > 10.0 and  15.0 Short traffic delays 

C > 15.0 and  25.0 Average traffic delays 

D > 25.0 and  35.0 Long traffic delays 

E > 35.0 and  50.0 Very long traffic delays 

F > 50.0 Severe congestion 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
2
 Source: Highway Capacity Manual 6, Chapter 20: Two-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections. The LOS criteria apply to each lane on a given 

 approach and to each approach on the minor street. LOS is not calculated for major-street approaches or for the intersection as a whole. 
3
 Source: Highway Capacity Manual 6, Chapter 21: All-Way Stop-Controlled Intersections. For approaches and intersection-wide assessment, 

 LOS  is defined solely by control delay. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

9 

TABLE 3-3 

EXISTING PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

Key Intersections 

Time 

Period 

Control 

Type HCM LOS 

1. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 8 Traffic 25.4 s/v C 

8th Street PM Signal 26.3 s/v C 

2. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 5 Traffic 7.8 s/v A 

Mountain Green Shopping Center Driveway PM Signal 10.6 s/v B 

3. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 6 Traffic 21.1 s/v C 

7th Street PM Signal 31.5 s/v C 

4. 
Mountain Avenue at AM Two-Way 19.6 s/v C 

Existing Project Driveway No. 1 PM Stop 18.4 s/v C 

5. 
Existing Project Driveway No. 2 at  AM Two-Way 11.6 s/v B 

7th Street PM Stop 13.9 s/v B 

 

 Notes: 

 s/v = seconds per vehicle (delay) 

 LOS = Level of Service, please refer to Tables 3-1 and 3-2 for the LOS definitions 

 Bold Delay/LOS values indicate adverse service levels based on the LOS standards mentioned in this report. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

10 

4.0 TRAFFIC FORECASTING METHODOLOGY 

In order to estimate the traffic impact characteristics of the Project, a multi-step process has been 

utilized. The first step is traffic generation, which estimates the total arriving and departing traffic on 

a peak hour and daily basis. The traffic generation potential is forecast by applying the appropriate 

vehicle trip generation equations and/or rates to the Project development tabulation. 

The second step of the forecasting process is traffic distribution, which identifies the origins and 

destinations of inbound and outbound Project traffic. These origins and destinations are typically 

based on demographics and existing/expected future travel patterns in the study area. 

The third step is traffic assignment, which involves the allocation of Project traffic to study area 

streets and intersections. Traffic assignment is typically based on minimization of travel time, which 

may or may not involve the shortest route, depending on prevailing operating conditions and travel 

speeds.  

Traffic distribution patterns are indicated by general percentage orientation, while traffic assignment 

allocates specific volume forecasts to individual roadway segments and intersection turning 

movements throughout the study area.  

With the forecasting process complete and Project traffic assignments developed, the impact of the 

Project is isolated by comparing operational (LOS) conditions at selected key intersections using 

expected future traffic volumes with and without forecast Project traffic. If necessary, the need for 

site-specific and/or cumulative local area improvements can then be evaluated. 

 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

11 

5.0 PROJECT TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS 

5.1 Project Trip Generation Forecast 

Trip generation is expressed in vehicle trip ends, defined as one-way vehicular movements, either 

entering or exiting the generating land use. Generation rates used in the traffic forecasting procedure 

are found in the 10th Edition of Trip Generation, published by the Institute of Transportation 

Engineers (ITE), [Washington, D.C., 2017]. 

The top part of Table 5-1 summarizes the trip generation rates used in forecasting the vehicular trips 

generated by the Project and the existing vacant El Torito restaurant. The trip generation potential of 

the Project has been estimated using trip rates for ITE Land Use 934: Fast-Food Restaurant with 

Drive-Through Window.  The trip generation potential of the existing vacant El Torito Restaurant 

has been estimated using trip rates for ITE Land Use 931: Quality Restaurant. 

A review of the middle portion of Table 5-1 indicates that the proposed Project is forecast to 

generate approximately 1,717 daily trips, with 99 trips (50 inbound, 49 outbound) produced in the 

AM peak hour and 79 trips (41 inbound, 38 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour on a “typical” 

weekday.  Further review of the middle portion of Table 5-1 indicates that the existing vacant El 

Torito restaurant generates approximately 591 daily trips, with 7 trips (4 inbound, 3 outbound) 

produced in the AM peak hour and 41 trips (28 inbound, 13 outbound) produced in the PM peak 

hour on a “typical” weekday. 

As shown at the bottom of Table 5-1, when the proposed Project is compared to the existing vacant 

El Torito restaurant trip generation, the Project is forecast to result in a net addition of 1,126 daily 

trips, with a net addition of 92 trips (46 inbound, 46 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and a 

net addition of 38 trips (13 inbound, 25 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour on a “typical” 

weekday.  The potential impact of these net additional trips have been assessed in the traffic study.  

It should be noted that the existing vacant El Torito restaurant trips (i.e. 591 daily trips, 7 AM peak 

hour trips, 41 PM peak hour trips) have been included as part of the background traffic forecast. 

It should be further noted that the aforementioned overall Project trip generation includes 

adjustments for pass-by per the Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition, published by ITE (2014), to 

account for trips that are already in the everyday traffic stream on the adjoining streets (i.e. Mountain 

Avenue) and will stop as they pass by the Project site as a matter of convenience on their path to 

another destination.  Per the Trip Generation Handbook, a pass-by reduction factor of 49% and 50% 

is recommended for the AM and PM peak hours, respectively, for the fast-food restaurant with 

drive-through land use.  The daily pass-by percentage is estimated to be 25%.  Furthermore, a pass-

by reduction factor of 44% is recommended for the PM peak hour for the quality restaurant land use.  

The pass-by percentages are estimated to be 25% and 0% for the daily and AM peak hour, 

respectively. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

12 

5.2 Project Trip Distribution and Assignment 

The directional trip distribution pattern for the Project is presented in Figure 5-1. Project traffic 

volumes, both entering and exiting the site, have been distributed and assigned to the adjacent street 

system based on the following considerations:  

 the site's proximity to major traffic carriers (i.e. Mountain Avenue, etc.), 

 expected localized traffic flow patterns based on adjacent street channelization and 

presence of traffic signals,  

 existing intersection traffic volumes,  

 ingress/egress availability at the Project site, and 

 input from City of Upland staff. 

The Project trip distribution pattern was submitted to City of Upland staff for their review and 

approval prior to proceeding with further analyses. 

The anticipated AM and PM peak hour Project traffic volumes at the five (5) key study intersections 

are presented in Figures 5-2 and 5-3, respectively. The traffic volume assignment presented in the 

above-mentioned figures reflects the Project trip distribution characteristics shown in Figure 5-1 and 

the Project trip generation forecast presented in the Table 5-1.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

13 

TABLE 5-1 

PROJECT TRAFFIC GENERATION FORECAST4
F  

ITE Land Use Code /  

Project Description 

Daily 

2-Way 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Enter  Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Generation Rates:        

 931: Quality Restaurant (TE/TSF) 83.84 0.375 0.365 0.73 5.23 2.57 7.80 

 934: Fast-Food Restaurant with Drive-Thru Window (TE/TSF) 470.95 20.50 19.69 40.19 16.99 15.68 32.67 

Proposed Project Generation Forecast:        

[A] – Chick-fil-A with Drive-Thru Window (4.863 TSF) 2,290 99 96 195 83 76 159 

Pass-By (Daily: 25%, AM: 49%, PM: 50%)6 -573 -49 -47 -96 -42 -38 -80 

Subtotal 1,717 50 49 99 41 38 79 

Existing El Torito Restaurant:        

[B] – El Torito Restaurant (9.401 TSF) 788 4 3 7 49 24 73 

Pass-By (Daily: 25%, AM: 0%, PM: 44%)7 -197 0 0 0 -21 -11 -32 

Subtotal 591 4 3 7 28 13 41 

Total Net Trip Generation Forecast [A] – [B] 1,126 46 46 92 13 25 38 

Note: 

 TE/TSF = Trip End per Thousand Square Feet 

 

 

 
 

 

                                                 
4  Source: Trip Generation, 9th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, (ITE) [Washington, D.C. (2012)]. 
5  Enter and exit split information is not provided in Trip Generation, 10th Edition. A 50-50 enter/exit split was assumed. 
6  Source: Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, (ITE) [Washington, D.C. (2014)].  Pass-by reductions for 

fast-food restaurant with drive-through window consist of the following: 25% daily (estimated), 49% AM and 50% PM.  
7  Source: Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, (ITE) [Washington, D.C. (2014)].  Pass-by reductions for 

quality restaurant consist of the following: 25% daily (estimated), 0% AM (assumed) and 44% PM.  









 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

14 

6.0 FUTURE TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

6.1 Existing With Project Traffic Volumes 

The estimates of Project generated traffic volumes were added to the Existing traffic conditions to 

develop traffic projections for the Existing With Project traffic conditions. Figures 6-1 and 6-2 

present the anticipated AM and PM peak hour Existing With Project traffic volumes, respectively, at 

the key study intersections.  

6.2 Year 2021 Without Project Traffic Volumes  

6.2.1 Ambient Growth Traffic 

Near-term horizon year traffic growth estimates have been calculated using an ambient growth 

factor. The ambient growth factor is intended to include unknown and future cumulative projects in 

the study area, as well as account for regular growth in traffic volumes due to the development of 

projects outside the study area. Applied to the Year 2019 existing traffic volumes, this factor results 

in a 4.0% growth in existing volumes to the near-term horizon year 2021. 

6.2.2 Cumulative Projects Traffic 

The Cities of Upland, Montclair and Ontario identified a total of twenty-six (26) cumulative projects 

within the Project study area. Cumulative projects, as defined by Section 15355 of the CEQA 

Guidelines, are “closely related past, present and reasonably foreseeable probable future projects”. 

The Traffic Impact Analysis assumes that these cumulative projects will be developed and 

operational when the proposed Project is operational. This is the most conservative, worst-case 

approach, since the exact timing of each cumulative project is uncertain. In addition, impacts for 

these cumulative projects would likely be, or have been, subject to mitigation measures, which could 

reduce potential impacts. Under this analysis, however, those mitigation measures are not 

considered. The locations of these twenty-six (26) cumulative projects are presented in Figure 6-3.  

Table 6-1 presents the jurisdiction, description and development totals of the twenty-six (26) 

cumulative projects. Table 6-2 presents the resultant trip generation for the twenty-six (26) 

cumulative projects.  As shown in Table 6-2, the cumulative projects are expected to generate 17,646 

daily trips (one half arriving, one half departing) on a “typical” weekday, with 1,203 trips (418 

inbound and 785 outbound) forecast during the weekday AM peak hour and 1,503 trips (859 

inbound and 644 outbound) forecast during the weekday PM peak hour.  

The anticipated AM and PM peak hour cumulative projects traffic volumes at the key study 

intersections are presented in Figures 6-4 and 6-5, respectively.  

Figures 6-6 and 6-7 present Year 2021 Without Project AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes at 

the key study intersections, respectively. It should be noted that the Year 2021 Without Project 

traffic volumes include ambient traffic growth as well as the traffic from the twenty-six (26) 

cumulative projects. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

15 

It should again be emphasized that because this traffic impact analysis utilizes both an ambient 

growth factor along with a list of cumulative projects approach to analyze cumulative impacts, this 

traffic impact analysis is highly conservative and would tend to overstate cumulative traffic impacts. 

6.3 Year 2021 With Project Traffic Volumes 

The estimates of Project generated traffic volumes were added to the Year 2021 Without Project 

traffic conditions to develop traffic projections for the Year 2021 With Project traffic conditions. 

Figures 6-8 and 6-9 present the anticipated AM and PM peak hour Year 2021 With Project traffic 

volumes, respectively, at the key study intersections.  



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

16 

TABLE 6-1 

LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF CUMULATIVE PROJECTS8 

No. Cumulative Project Address Description/Size 

City of Upland 

1. 
Foothill Blvd/Dewey Way 

Residential 
SEC of Foothill Boulevard and Dewey Way 193 DU Single-Family/Condominium 

2. The Enclave Specific Plan SEC of Foothill Boulevard and Dewey Way 350 DU Single-Family Attached/Detached 

3. 
Foothill Blvd/Benson Avenue 

Residential 
NEC of Foothill Blvd and Benson Avenue 37 DU Townhomes 

4. 
Monte Vista Avenue/Arrow 

Route Hwy Residential 

SEC of Monte Vista Avenue and Arrow 

Route Highway 
40 DU Apartments 

5. 
Euclid Ave/8th Street 

Residential 
NEC of N. Euclid Avenue and E. 8th Street 61 DU Apartments 

6. 
4th Avenue/A Street 

Residential 
NEC of N. 4th Avenue and A Street 111 DU Apartments 

7. 
Bodenhamer Street/9th Street 

Residential 
SEC of Bodenhamer Street and E. 9th Street 52 DU Townhomes 

8. 
9th Street/San Antonio 

Avenue Residential 
NWC of 9th Street and San Antonio Avenue  6 DU Apartments 

9. Mesa Court Apartments 790 Mesa Court 60 DU Apartments 

10. 
Central Avenue/Foothill Blvd 

Industrial 

NEC of Central Avenue and Foothill 

Boulevard 
201,096 SF Warehouse 

11. Central Ave/11th St Industrial NEC of Central Avenue and 11th Street 71,384 SF Warehouse 

12. 1701 W. 11th Street Industrial 1701 W. 11th Street  83,000 SF Warehouse 

13. 1794 W. 11th Street Industrial 1794 W. 11th Street  44,570 SF Warehouse 

14. 1704 W. 11th Street Industrial 1704 W. 11th Street  56,000 SF Warehouse 

15. Existing El Torito Restaurant 335 S. Mountain Avenue 9,401 SF Restaurant 

City of Montclair 

16. Arrow Highway Industrial 5566 Arrow Highway 95,429 SF General Light Industrial 

17. Alexan Montclair SWC of Arrow Hwy and Monte Vista Ave 211 DU Apartment 

18. Monte Vista Ave Residential 8949 Monte Vista Avenue 23 DU Apartment 

19. Arrow Highway Residential 5050 Arrow Highway 375 DU Multifamily 

20. Fremont Avenue Residential SEC of Arrow Highway and Fremont Ave 89 DU Multifamily 

21. Costco Gas Station  9404 Central Avenue 16 Pump Gas Station (8 Additional Pumps) 

City of Ontario 

22. PDEV17-011 
214 North Vine Avenue 

422 West B Street 
8 DU Apartment 

                                                 
8 Source: City of Upland, Montclair and Ontario Planning Departments. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

17 

TABLE 6-1(CONTINUED)  

LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF CUMULATIVE PROJECTS9 

No. Cumulative Project Address Description/Size 

23. PDEV17-017 SWC of Fern Avenue and Holt Boulevard 75 DU Apartment  

24. Raising Cane’s Restaurant  1437 North Mountain Avenue 3,233 SF Fast-Food Restaurant with Drive-Thru 

25. PDEV18-004 NWC of Sixth Street and Palmetto Avenue 10,858 SF Office Building 

26. PDEV19-006 1533 West Holt Boulevard 35,435 SF Industrial Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
9 Source: City of Upland, Montclair and Ontario Planning Departments. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

18 

TABLE 6-2 

CUMULATIVE PROJECTS TRIP GENERATION FORECAST10 

Cumulative Project Description 

Daily  

2-Way 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

1. Foothill Blvd/Dewey Way Residential 1,822 36 107 143 120 71 191 

2. The Enclave Specific Plan 3,304 65 194 259 219 128 347 

3. Foothill Blvd/Benson Avenue Residential 271 4 13 17 13 8 21 

4. Monte Vista Avenue/Arrow Route Hwy Residential 293 4 14 18 14 8 22 

5. Euclid Ave/8th Street Residential 447 6 22 28 21 13 34 

6. 4th Avenue/A Street Residential 813 12 39 51 39 23 62 

7. Bodenhamer Street/9th Street Residential 381 6 18 24 18 11 29 

8. 9th Street/San Antonio Avenue Residential 44 1 2 3 2 1 3 

9. Mesa Court Apartments11 439 6 22 28 21 13 34 

10. Central Avenue/Foothill Blvd Industrial 350 26 8 34 10 28 38 

11. Central Ave/11th St Industrial 124 9 3 12 4 10 14 

12. 1701 W. 11th Street Industrial 144 11 3 14 4 12 16 

13. 1794 W. 11th Street Industrial 78 6 2 8 2 6 8 

14. 1704 W. 11th Street Industrial 97 8 2 10 3 8 11 

15. Existing El Torito Restaurant 591 4 3 7 28 13 41 

16. Arrow Highway Industrial 473 59 8 67 8 52 60 

17. Alexan Montclair 1,545 22 75 97 74 44 118 

18. Monte Vista Ave Residential 168 3 8 11 8 5 13 

19. Arrow Highway Residential 2,745 40 133 173 132 78 210 

20. Fremont Avenue Residential 651 9 32 41 32 18 50 

21. Costco Gas Station  1,032 17 17 34 32 33 65 

22. PDEV17-011 59 1 3 4 3 1 4 

23. PDEV17-017 408 7 20 27 20 13 33 

24. Raising Cane’s Restaurant  1,142 34 32 66 27 26 53 

25. PDEV18-004 106 11 2 13 2 10 12 

26. PDEV19-006 119 11 3 14 3 11 14 

Cumulative Projects Trip Generation Potential 17,646 418 785 1,203 859 644 1,503 

 

 

                                                 
10 Unless otherwise noted; Source: Trip Generation, 10th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Washington, D.C. (2017).   Where 

applicable, pass-by adjustment factors were utilized and are reflected in the cumulative projects trip generation potential. 
11 Source: Focused Traffic Impact Assessment for the Proposed Mesa Court Apartments, prepared by LLG Engineers, dated August 9, 2019. 





















 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

19 

7.0 EXISTING PLUS PROJECT ANALYSIS 

Table 7-1 summarizes the peak hour level of service results at the five (5) key study intersections for 

existing plus project traffic conditions. The first column (1) of HCM/LOS values in Table 7-1 

presents a summary of existing AM and PM peak hour traffic conditions (which were also presented 

in Table 3-3). The second column (2) lists existing plus project traffic conditions. The third column 

(3) indicates whether the traffic associated with the Project will have a significant impact based on 

the LOS standards and significant impact criteria defined in this report. The fourth column (4) 

indicates the anticipated level of service with planned and/or recommended improvements, if 

necessary. 

7.1 Existing Traffic Conditions 

Review of column (1) of Table 7-1 (also shown in Table 3-3) indicates that for Existing traffic 

conditions, all of the existing key study intersections currently operate at an acceptable level of 

service (i.e. LOS C or better) during the AM and PM peak hours.  

7.2 Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

Review of columns 2 and 3 of Table 7-1 indicates that traffic associated with the proposed Project 

will not significantly impact any of the five (5) key study intersections when compared to the LOS 

standards and significant impact criteria specified in this report. The five (5) key study intersections 

currently operate and are forecast to continue to operate at an acceptable LOS C or better during the 

AM and PM peak hours with the addition of Project generated traffic to existing traffic.  

Appendix C contains the Delay/LOS calculation worksheets for the five (5) key study intersections 

for Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions. 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers             LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

20 

TABLE 7-1 

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT CONDITIONS PEAK HOUR INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS SUMMARY12 

Key Intersection 

Minimum  

Acceptable  

LOS 

 

 

Time 

Period 

(1) 

Existing 

Traffic Conditions 

(2) 

Existing Plus Project  

Traffic Conditions 

(3) 

Significant 

Impact 

(4) 

Existing Plus Project  

With Improvements 

HCM LOS HCM LOS Yes/No  HCM LOS 

1. 
Mountain Avenue at 

D 
AM 25.4 s/v C 25.5 s/v C No -- -- 

8th Street PM 26.3 s/v C 26.4 s/v C No -- -- 

2. 
Mountain Avenue at 

D 
AM 7.8 s/v A 9.3 s/v A No -- -- 

Mountain Green Shopping Center Dwy PM 10.6 s/v B 11.6 s/v B No -- -- 

3. 
Mountain Avenue at 

D 
AM 21.1 s/v C 21.3 s/v C No -- -- 

7th Street PM 31.5 s/v C 31.5 s/v C No -- -- 

4. 
Mountain Avenue at 

D 
AM 19.6 s/v C 23.6 s/v C No -- -- 

Existing Project Driveway No. 1 PM 18.4 s/v C 19.5 s/v C No -- -- 

5. 
Existing Project Driveway No. 2 at  

D 
AM 11.6 s/v B 11.8 s/v B No -- -- 

7th Street PM 13.9 s/v C 14.0 s/v B No -- -- 

Notes: 

 s/v = seconds per vehicle (delay) 

 LOS = Level of Service, please refer to Tables 3-1 and 3-2 for the LOS definitions 

 Bold Delay/LOS values indicate adverse service levels based on the LOS standards mentioned in this report. 

 

 

                                                 
12 Appendix C contains the Delay/LOS calculation worksheets for all study intersections.  



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

21 

8.0 YEAR 2021 CUMULATIVE PLUS PROJECT ANALYSIS 

Table 8-1 summarizes the peak hour level of service results at the five (5) key study intersections for 

Year 2021 traffic conditions. The first column (1) of HCM/LOS values in Table 8-1 presents a 

summary of existing AM and PM peak hour traffic conditions (which were also presented in Table 

3-3). The second column (2) lists projected cumulative traffic conditions (existing plus ambient 

traffic plus cumulative project traffic) based on existing intersection geometry, but without any 

traffic generated from the proposed Project. The third column (3) presents forecast Year 2021 near-

term traffic conditions with the addition of Project traffic. The fourth column (4) indicates whether 

the traffic associated with the Project will have a significant impact based on the LOS standards and 

significant impact criteria defined in this report. The fifth column (5) indicates the anticipated level 

of service with planned and/or recommended improvements, if necessary. 

8.1 Year 2021 Cumulative Traffic Conditions 

Review of column (2) of Table 8-1 indicates that for Year 2021 Cumulative traffic conditions, all 

five (5) of the key study intersections are forecast to operate at an acceptable level of service (i.e. 

LOS C or better) during the AM and PM peak hours when compared to the LOS standards defined in 

this report.  

8.2 Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

Review of columns 3 and 4 of Table 8-1 indicates that traffic associated with the proposed Project 

will not significantly impact any of the five (5) key study intersections when compared to the LOS 

standards and significant impact criteria specified in this report. The five (5) key study intersections 

are forecast to continue to operate at an acceptable LOS C or better during the AM and PM peak 

hours with the addition of project generated traffic in the Year 2021.  

Appendix D contains the Delay/LOS calculation worksheets for the five (5) key study intersections 

for Year 2021 Cumulative Traffic Conditions. 

 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers             LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

22 

TABLE 8-1 

YEAR 2021 CONDITIONS PEAK HOUR INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS SUMMARY13 

Key Intersection 

 

 

 

Time  

Period 

(1) 

 

Existing 

Traffic Conditions 

(2) 

Year 2021  

Cumulative 

Traffic Conditions 

(3) 

Year 2021 Cumulative  

Plus Project 

Traffic Conditions 

(4) 

 

Significant 

Impact 

(5) 

Year 2021 Cumulative 

Plus Project 

With Mitigation 

HCM LOS HCM LOS HCM LOS Yes/No HCM LOS 

1. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 25.4 s/v C 31.3 s/v C 31.6 s/v C No -- -- 

8th Street PM 26.3 s/v C 27.9 s/v C 28.0 s/v C No -- -- 

2. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 7.8 s/v A 7.8 s/v A 9.2 s/v A No -- -- 

Mountain Green Shopping Center Dwy PM 10.6 s/v B 11.2 s/v B 11.7 s/v B No -- -- 

3. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 21.1 s/v C 23.3 s/v C 23.3 s/v C No -- -- 

7th Street PM 31.5 s/v C 33.6 s/v C 33.6 s/v C No -- -- 

4. 
Mountain Avenue at AM 19.6 s/v C 20.3 s/v C 24.3 s/v C No -- -- 

Existing Project Driveway No. 1 PM 18.4 s/v C 19.6 s/v C 21.3 s/v C No -- -- 

5. 
Existing Project Driveway No. 2 at  AM 11.6 s/v B 11.6 s/v B 11.9 s/v B No -- -- 

7th Street PM 13.9 s/v B 14.2 s/v B 14.2 s/v B No -- -- 

Notes: 

 s/v = seconds per vehicle (delay) 

 LOS = Level of Service, please refer to Tables 3-1 and 3-2 for the LOS definitions  

 Bold Delay/LOS values indicate adverse service levels based on the LOS standards mentioned in this report 

                                                 
13 Appendix D contains the Delay/LOS calculation worksheets for all study intersections.  



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

23 

9.0 RECOMMENDED IMPROVEMENTS  

For those intersections and roadway segments where projected traffic volumes are expected to result 

in significant cumulative impacts, this report recommends traffic improvements that change the 

intersection and/or roadway segments geometry to increase capacity. These capacity improvements 

involve roadway widening and/or re-striping to reconfigure (add lanes) roadways to specific 

approaches of a key intersection and/or roadway segments. The identified improvements are 

expected to:  

 Address the impact of existing traffic, Project traffic and future non-project (ambient 

traffic growth and Cumulative) traffic, and 

 Improve Levels of Service to an acceptable range and/or to pre-project conditions. 

9.1 Existing Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

The results of the “Existing Plus Project” intersection capacity analysis presented previously in 

Table 7-1 indicates that the proposed Project will not significantly impact any of the five (5) key 

study intersections.  Given that there are no significant project impacts, no improvements are 

required under Existing Plus Project traffic conditions.  

9.2 Year 2021 Plus Project Traffic Conditions 

The results of the “Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project” intersection capacity analysis presented 

previously in Table 8-1 indicates that the proposed Project will not significantly impact any of the 

five (5) key study intersections.  Given that there are no significant project impacts, no 

improvements are required under Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project traffic conditions.  

 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

24 

10.0 SITE ACCESS AND INTERNAL CIRCULATION EVALUATION 

10.1 Site Access 

Access to the Project is currently provided and will continue to be provided via the one (1) full-

access signalized driveway located along Mountain Avenue (i.e. key study intersection #2), the one 

(1) right-turn in/right-turn out only unsignalized driveway located along Mountain Avenue (i.e. key 

study intersection #4) and the one (1) full-access unsignalized driveway located along 7th Street (i.e. 

key study intersection #5). 

As shown previously in Tables 7-1 and 8-1, the three (3) Project driveways (i.e. key study 

intersections #2, #4 and #5) are forecast to operate at acceptable service levels during the AM and 

PM peak hours under Existing Plus Project traffic conditions and Year 2021 Cumulative Plus Project 

traffic conditions.  As such, project access will be adequate.  Motorists entering and exiting the 

Project site will be able to do so comfortably, safely, and without undue congestion. 

10.2 Internal Circulation Evaluation 

The on-site circulation layout of the proposed Project as illustrated in Figure 2-2 on an overall basis 

is adequate. Curb return radii have been confirmed and are generally adequate for small 

service/delivery (FedEx, UPS) trucks and trash trucks. 

10.3 Drive-Through Queuing Analysis 

To confirm the adequacy of storage provided for the proposed drive-through lane, which consists of 

15 vehicles, the results of drive-through queuing observations conducted at five (5) existing 

comparative Chick-fil-A restaurants were utilized.  The five (5) locations consisted of the following: 

 

 Chick-fil-A Tustin, located at 2889 Park Avenue 

 Chick-fil-A Orange, located at 2575 N. Tustin Street 

 Chick-fil-A Irvine, located at 6428 Irvine Boulevard 

 Chick-fil-A Laguna Hills, located at 24011 El Toro Road 

 Chick-fil-A Corona, located at 3555 Grand Oaks 

 

Drive-through queuing observations were conducted at each of the five (5) locations on a weekday 

during the morning, mid-day and evening service periods, generally between the hours of 7:00 AM 

and 9:00 AM, 11:00 AM and 2:00 PM, and 4:00 PM and 7:00 PM.  Saturday queuing observations 

were also collected between 11:30 AM and 2:30 PM and 4:00 PM and 10:00 PM at only the Laguna 

Hills site and the Corona site.  

   

Table 10-1 summarizes the results of the drive-through queuing analysis summary for the proposed 

Project.  Column one (1) presents the study sites and column two (2) presents the study site 

locations.  Column three (3) presents the observed 85th percentile queue, the observed 95th percentile 

queue and the observed maximum queue for each site.  Column four (4) compares the 85th percentile 

queue for each site to the proposed drive-through lane storage and indicates whether or not the 

proposed drive-through lane will provide adequate storage.  It should be noted that the 85th 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

25 

percentile queue is generally utilized when designing/sizing the length of the proposed drive-through 

lane.    

Review of column 3 of Table 10-1 indicates that the five (5) study sites experienced an 85th 

percentile queue range between 6 vehicles and 13 vehicles.  As shown in column 4 of Table 10-1, 

the proposed Project will provide storage for up to 15 vehicles within the proposed drive-through 

lane without encroaching into the drive aisle.  Therefore, the 85th percentile expected queues can be 

accommodated without interfering with internal circulation or causing congestion to the drive aisle.  

It should be further noted that the proposed 15 vehicle storage drive-through lane can also 

accommodate the observed 95th percentile queues of the five (5) study sites.  Lastly, it should be 

noted that the maximum queue of 17 vehicles can be accommodated on-site within the drive aisles. 

Even though it is anticipated that the proposed drive-through lane will accommodate all potential 

queues on site, Chick-fil-A staff will implement the following program, on an as-needed basis during 

their peak operating times, to further ensure that vehicles will not queue back onto the public streets.  

The program consists of the following as provided by Chick-fil-A management staff: 

 “Our restaurants are staffed so that if the drive-thru queuing begins stacking onto the street, team 

members go out and assist with ordering via Chick-fil-A’s iPad ordering system.  Our operators 

use the iPad ordering during our peak hours of 11:30 am to 1:30 pm and any additional time 

when needed.  The iPad ordering system allows team members to take orders, receive payment, 

and assist with traffic movement within the parking lot.   

 

Based on data from our other comparable stores, the iPad ordering system increases the CFA 

drive thru speed of service by 30% than the typical speaker box.  Putting people forward in the 

drive-through is one of our biggest competitive advantages in the market because it personally 

connects our team members with our valued guest.  We want to continue this momentum by 

building a platform to supporting current and future innovations that increase capacity and put 

our people forward to care for our guest in every interaction.  Our customers enjoy the face to 

face ordering over the standard drive-thru experience.”   

Appendix E presents the drive-through queuing study data for the five (5) existing comparative sites. 

 

 

 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

26 

TABLE 10-1 

DRIVE-THROUGH LANE QUEUING ANALYSIS SUMMARY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) 

Study Site 

(2) 

Location 

(3) 

Number of Vehicles Observed 

In The Drive-Through Lane 

(4) 

Proposed Project 

85th 

Percentile 

95th 

Percentile Maximum 

Drive-Through 

Lane Storage 

Adequate For 

85th Percentile 

(Yes/No) 

Chick-fil-A 

(City of Tustin) 
2889 Park Avenue, Tustin, CA 6 13 15 15 Yes 

Chick-fil-A 

(City of Orange) 
2575 N. Tustin Street, Orange, CA 11 14 15 15 Yes 

Chick-fil-A 

(City of Irvine) 
6428 Irvine Boulevard, Irvine, CA 8 10 12 15 Yes 

Chick-fil-A 

(City of Laguna Hills) 
24011 El Toro Road, Laguna Hills, CA 11 14 17 15 Yes 

Chick-fil-A 

(City of Corona) 
3555 Grand Oaks, Corona, CA 13 13 16 15 Yes 



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4083-1 

Chick-fil-A, Upland 

N:\4000\2194083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland\Report\4083 - Chick-fil-A, Upland TIA 12-23-19.doc 

27 

11.0 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROGRAM (CMP) ASSESSMENT 

This analysis is consistent with the requirements and procedures outlined in the current San 

Bernardino County Congestion Management Program (CMP). The CMP requires that a traffic 

impact analysis be conducted for any project generating 250 or more peak hour trips. As noted in 

Section 5.0 of this traffic study, the proposed Project is forecast to generate 92 AM peak hour trips 

and 38 PM peak hour trips and thus does not meet the criteria requiring a CMP TIA. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

 
BUSINESS ITEM NO. 1 

 
 
DATE: March 25, 2020 
 
TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
 
PREPARED BY: LIZ CHAVEZ, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES MANAGER  
 MEL PICAZO, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR   
 
SUBJECT: GENERAL PLAN CONFORMITY DETERMINATION IN 

REGARDS TO THE DISPOSITION OF CITY-OWNED SURPLUS 
PARCELS LOCATED AT EUCLID AVENUE, SOUTH OF THE 21O 
FREEWAY AT THE TERMINUS OF LAUREL AVENUE (APNS: 
1044-061-42, 43, 44, 45). 

 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUEST 
 
The Development Services Department staff requests that the Planning Commission 
adopt the attached resolution (See Exhibit A – Draft Resolution) finding that the 
disposition of four City-owned surplus properties located at Euclid Avenue, south of 
the 210 Freeway, at the terminus of Laurel Avenue (APNS: 1044-061-42, 43, 44, 45) 
(“Properties”) is in conformance with the City of Upland’s General Plan.  
 
SYNOPSIS 
 
Applicant: City of Upland 
Representative: Robert Dalquest 
Property Owner: Same as Applicant 
Property Location: APNS: 1044-061-42, 43, 44, 45 (Exhibit B) 
Existing General Plan 
Land Use Designation: 

Single Family Residential Low (SFR-L) 
 

Existing Zoning 
Classification: 

Residential Single-Family Low (RS-20) 
(Minimum 20,000 sq. ft. lots) 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
Page 2 of 7 

 
Site Size: Site Size is 1.82 Acres (79,652 square feet) 

Laurel Avenue 2 parcels  - 21,346 square feet each 
Euclid Avenue 2 parcels  - 18,480 square feet each 

Building/Suite Size: Not applicable - Vacant lots 
Access: N. Euclid Avenue and Laurel Avenue 
Surrounding Land Uses:  

 
 

Direction Land Use General 
Plan 

Zone 

North Single-family 
Residential  

SFR-L RS-20 

East Single-Family 
Residential 

SFR-L RS-15 

South Single-Family 
Residential  

SFR-L RS-20 

West Single-Family 
Residential 

SFR-L RS-20 

 
AUTHORIZATION/GUIDELINES 
 
California Government Code Section 65402 (Planning and Zoning Law) requires the 
City to determine that the location, purpose, and extent of the disposition of the City-
owned surplus properties and its potential development is in conformance with the 
City’s General Plan.  
 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
 
In September 2019, the City Council directed staff to sell the Properties and an RFP 
was issued for 60 days with a response due by January 13, 2020. The subject site 
has been listed as City-owned surplus land since 2013.  
 
A proposal was received by Crestwood Communities for the purchase of all 4 
Properties and the proposed development of a single-family home on each lot. 
Crestwood Communities is a family-owned homebuilder, which began over 70 years 
ago, with corporate offices in Glendora. 
 
The developer has proposed to construct high-end single-family residential dwelling 
on each lot. The Developer’s architect has designed a conceptual site plan in 
accordance with the development design standards and guidelines in the City of 
Upland’s Zoning Code. City staff will continue to work with the developer and architect 
to finalize the conceptual plans and prepare for formal plan check submittal to the 
Building & Safety Division.  
 
The Development Services Department is currently drafting a disposition and 
development agreement (DDA) with Crestwood Communities for the City Council’s 
consideration at a future meeting tentatively for April/May 2020. 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
Page 3 of 7 

 
The City intends to dispose the properties to the developer by satisfying the City’s 
Asset Management Policy. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
GENERAL PLAN CONFORMITY  
 
California Government Code Section 65402 requires the City to determine that the 
location, purpose and extent of the proposed disposition of the City-owned excess 
surplus Properties is in conformance with the General Plan.  The Planning Commission 
is the review authority tasked with making the General Plan Conformity 
Determination. 
 
Upon review of the project and General Plan, the Planning Division has found the 
requested disposition of the City-owned surplus properties is in conformance with the 
General Plan, described below in Table 1 for consideration of the Planning 
Commission: 
 
Table 1 
General Plan Policy Conformity 
Single-Family Low (SFR-L). This 
designation provides for the 
development of detached, single-family 
units and contributes to the preservation 
of existing single-family suburban 
residential neighborhoods. The 
permitted density range is from zero up 
to four (4) dwelling units per acres. 

Development of the subject property will 
result in four (4) single-family homes 
which equates to a density of 2.20 
dwelling units per acre, and will result in 
enhancing the existing neighborhood by 
developing vacant land to complete the 
existing residential neighborhood. 

Policy LU-1.5 Range of Housing 
Types and Densities. Provide high 
quality housing in a range of types, 
densities, and unit sizes that meets the 
housing needs of residents of all income 
levels.  
 

The proposed project will result in 
development of four (4) high-quality 
single-family homes with varying 
architectural designs that will be 
compatible with the existing 
neighborhood.. 

Policy LU-2.1 Low-Density 
Residential. Maintain low-density 
residential designations in existing low-
density residential areas.  
 

This project proposes development of 
low-density, single-family residential 
homes and will result in enhancing the 
existing neighborhood by developing 
infill, vacant land to complete the 
existing residential neighborhood. 

Policy LU-6.1 Quality Development. 
Ensure that development is attractive 
and promotes harmony in the visual 
relationship and transitions between 
newer and older buildings.  
 

The proposed project will result in the 
development of four (4) high-quality and 
attractive single-family residential 
homes and will blend within the existing 
neighborhood and provide harmony in 
the visual integration between newer 
and older residences.  



Planning Commission Staff Report 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
Page 4 of 7 

 
Policy CC-2.6 Neighborhood 
Enhancement. Promote infill 
development that contribute positively 
(e.g. site layout and architectural 
design) to existing neighborhoods and 
surrounding uses.  
 

The project proposes attractive single-
family residential units that incorporate 
two floor plans, with three architectural 
styles, that will give each home a unique 
design.  

Policy CC-2.9 Infill Development. 
Require infill development to be 
compatible with surrounding uses and to 
equal or exceed the quality of adjacent 
development.  
 

The developer proposes development of 
high-quality and attractive single-family 
residential units that will be compatible 
with the surrounding residential 
neighborhood.  

 
Based on the factors described above, and consideration of the location, purpose, 
and extent of the proposed disposition of the City-owned excess surplus Properties, 
the project is in conformance with the General Plan, as required by California 
Government Code (Planning and Zoning Law) Section 65402. 
 
General Plan 
 
The project site has a Single Family Residential Low (SFR-L) General Plan land use 
designation. According to the General Plan, this designation provides for the 
development of detached single-family units and contributes to the preservation of 
existing single-family suburban residential neighborhoods. The project is consistent 
with the General Plan, as the proposed residential units would not adversely affect 
the intent of the residential designation, and the density would be well under the 
maximum density of four (4) dwelling units per acre.  
 
Zoning 
 
The proposed use is a permitted use in the Residential Single-Family Low (RS-20) 
Zone. The RS-20 Zone is intended to support the development of single family 
residential units on a variety of parcels to suit the range of lifestyles and space needs 
of all segments of the Upland community; Continue to preserve and protect the 
character and quality of existing residential neighborhoods and ensure that new 
residential dwellings are compatible in scale, mass, and character with the existing 
neighborhood; Ensure adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling 
unit; and Allow for uses compatible with a single family residential setting, including 
day cares, public and quasi-public uses, park and residential facilities, and accessory 
and second units. The subject Properties are surrounded by single family residential 
units. The proposed use is not anticipated to result in any land use conflicts or 
nuisances to adjacent uses (such as noise, dust, odor, etc.). 
 
Project Concept Characteristics 
 
The proposed project will consist of four (4) single family detached homes, with one 
single family dwelling built on each lot. There will be an offering of two plans, each 
with three distinct architectural styles, which will give each home a unique style all 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
Page 5 of 7 

 
on its own. Plan One will be approximately 3,000 square feet as a single-story home. 
Plan Two will be approximately 3,400 square feet as a 2-story home. Both home 
styles will have a 3-car garage. There will be parking for 4-6 cars per home. The 
homes will consist of 4 or 5 bedrooms and 3 or 4 bathrooms footprints. The 
architecture of the homes will be designed to blend in with the existing homes in the 
neighborhood. The proposed homes on Euclid Avenue will have access from Euclid 
Avenue in addition to access from the existing rear alley. The proposed homes on 
Laurel Avenue will have access from the Laurel Avenue cul-de-sac. The Laurel Avenue 
homes on the east side of the cul-de-sac, will also have access from the existing rear 
alley. Price points are estimated to range from $900,000 to $990,000 (See Exhibit C 
– Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations). 
 
Development Plan/Standards 
 
The project will comply with all required development standards as shown in Table 2 
below. 
 
Table 2 

Development Standard Code Requirement Provided (Concept) 

Front Yard Setback  40 feet 40 feet (Laurel) 
60 feet (Euclid) 

Rear Yard Setback  20 feet 72 feet (Laurel)  
82 Feet (Euclid)  

Side Yard Setback (North) 10 feet 15 feet 

Side Yard Setback (South) 10 feet 25 feet (Laurel) 
20 feet (Euclid) 

Building Height 35 feet Single/2-Story  

Maximum Lot Coverage  35 %  14% (Laurel)  
18% (Euclid)  

 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
 
The Planning Department staff has determined that the General Plan Conformity 
finding for the disposition of City-owned excess surplus property is categorically 
exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 5, Section 15061(b)(3), 
review for exemption, of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines,  
since the activity is covered by the common sense exemption that CEQA applies only 
to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment.   
 
Further, the Planning Department staff has determined that the potential 
development project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. The project qualifies as a Class 32 
exemption under State CEQA Guidelines Section 15332-In-Fill Development Projects 
for the following reasons: (1) the project is consistent with the applicable General 
Plan designations and all applicable General Plan policies as well as with the applicable 
zoning designation and regulations, (2) the proposed development occurs within the 
City limits on a project site of no more than five acres substantially surrounded by 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
Page 6 of 7 

 
urban uses, (3) the project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species, (4) approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality, and (5) the site can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 
TECHNICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
This General Plan Conformity finding did not require review by the Technical Review 
Committee.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The Planning Division recommends the Planning Commission adopt a Resolution 
entitled: 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND MAKING 
A FINDING OF GENERAL PLAN CONFORMITY DETERMINATION FOR THE 
DISPOSITION OF CITY-OWNED SURPLUS PROPERTY LOCATED AT EUCLID AVENUE, 
SOUTH OF THE 210 FREEWAY AT THE TERMINUS OF LAUREL AVENUE (APNS: 1044-
061-42, 43, 44, 45). 
 
MOTION 
 

• Find that the determination for General Plan Conformity for the disposition of 
City-owned surplus property is Categorically Exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the 
CEQA Guidelines. 
 

• Find that the disposition of the City-owned surplus property located at Euclid 
Avenue, south of the 210 Freeway and at the terminus of Laurel Avenue is in 
conformity with the City of Upland General Plan. 
 

• Recommend the Planning Commission find the project is Categorically Exempt 
from environmental proceedings pursuant to Section 15332 (In-Fill 
Development Projects) of the California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, 
since the proposed project is consistent with applicable general plan 
designations and policies as well as applicable zoning designation and 
regulations; occurs within city limits on a property that is no more than five 
acres substantially surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for 
endangered, rare or threatened species; approval of the project would not 
result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water 
quality; and the site can be adequately served by all required utilities and 
public services. 
 

EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Draft Resolution 
Exhibit B: Aerial Map 
Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 



 

 

Exhibit A – Draft Resolution 

 



Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO.  

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
UPLAND MAKING A FINDING OF GENERAL PLAN CONFORMITY 
DETERMINATION FOR THE DISPOSITION OF CITY-OWNED 
SURPLUS PROPERTY LOCATED AT EUCLID AVENUE, SOUTH OF 
THE 210 FREEWAY AT THE TERMINUS OF LAUREL AVENUE (APNS: 
1044-061-42, 43, 44, 45) 

  
THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND DOES HEREBY FIND, 
ORDER, AND RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:  
 
SECTION 1. RECITALS.  
 
A. The City of Upland (“applicant”), 460 N. Euclid Avenue, Upland, California, 

91786, directed staff to sell four City-Owned surplus properties located at 
Euclid Avenue, south of the 210 Freeway, at the terminus of Laurel Avenue 
(APNS: 1044-061-42, 43, 44, 45), containing 79,652 square feet. In response 
to a request for proposal, a proposal was received by Crestwood Communities 
for the purchase of all four (4) properties for the proposed development of 
single-family residential homes on each lot.   

 
B. California Government Code (Planning and Zoning Law) Section 65402 

requires the City to determine that the location, purpose and extent of the 
proposed disposition of City-owned surplus properties is in conformance with 
the General Plan. 
 

C. The Planning Commission is the review authority tasked with making the 
General Plan Conformity Determination.   
 

D. On March 25, 2020, at 6:30 p.m., the Planning Commission conducted a 
hearing for General Plan Conformity Determination, after providing notice to 
the public in the manner and for the time required by law. 
 

E. At said time and place, the Planning Commission heard and considered both 
oral and written evidence. 

 
SECTION 2. FINDINGS.  The Planning Commission hereby makes the following 
findings and determinations in connection with the approval of the Project:   

A. Recitals A through E of Section 1, above, are true and correct. 
 

B. The proposed project has been determined to be exempt from environmental 
proceedings pursuant Section 15061 (b)(3) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, since the activity is covered by the common 
sense exemption that CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential 
for causing a significant effect on the environment. 
 

C. In addition, the Planning Commission finds that the project is Categorically 
Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Section 15332 (In-Fill 



Planning Commission Resolution 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Development Projects) of the California Environmental Quality Act, since the 
proposed project is consistent with applicable general plan designations and 
policies as well as applicable zoning designation and regulations; occurs within 
city limits on a property that is no more than five acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can 
be adequately served by all required utilities and public services.  
 

D. The Planning Commission finds that the disposition of the City-owned surplus 
property located at Euclid Avenue, south of the 210 Freeway at the terminus 
of Laurel Avenue is in conformity with the City of Upland General Plan. 

 
E. The disposition of the City-owned surplus properties will accommodate for the 

future development of four (4) high quality single-family residential units, 
consistent with the Upland Zoning Code. 

 
SECTION 3. DETERMINATION.  In light of the evidence presented at the hearing 
on this application, and based on the findings set forth above, the Planning 
Commission hereby determines that the disposition of the City-owned surplus 
properties conforms to the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  APPEAL.  Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 17.47.040, the 
decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council provided 
that written notice of the appeal is filed with the City Clerk within ten (10) days 
following the date the decision was rendered, unless a longer appeal period is 
specified as part of the project approval. Failure to file a timely appeal shall constitute 
a waiver of the right of appeal, and the decision of the Planning Commission shall be 
final. 
 
SECTION 5.  INCONSISTENCY.  If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase 
or portion of this resolution or the document in the record in support of this resolution 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
unconstitutional or otherwise void, that determination shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining sections, divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  
 
SECTION 6.  CERTIFICATION.  The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall 
certify to the passage, approval, and adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause 
this Resolution and their certification to be entered in the Book of Resolutions of the 
Planning Commission of the City. 
 
 
 

 _______________________________ 
 Robin Aspinall, CHAIR    

 
  



Planning Commission Resolution 
General Plan Conformity 

March 25, 2020 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

ATTEST: 
 

____________________________ 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 25th day of March, 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES:     

NAYS:   

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

____________________________ 
Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 
 
 
 
  

 



 

 

Exhibit B – Aerial Map 

 



Exhibit B – Aerial Map 

 



 

 

Exhibit C – Conceptual Site Plan,                         

Floor Plan, and Elevations  

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 

 

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 

 

 

 



Exhibit C: Conceptual Site Plan/Floor Plan/Elevations 

 


	Agenda
	Minutes of 2/26/20
	Item 1 - DA-20-0002 Developemtn Agreement- First Amendment- Enclave.pdf
	Staff Report
	1a. Draft Resolution
	1b. Draft City Council Ordinance Amending Development Agreement No. 15-01
	1c. Amendment to Development Agreement No. 15-01
	1d. 2015 Approved/Recorded Development Agreement
	1e. First Operating Memorandum

	Item 2 - CUP-19-0001 Chick-Fil-A.pdf
	Staff Report
	2a. Draft Resolution
	2b. Vicinity Map
	2c. General Plan and Zoning Designation
	2d. Site Plan
	2e. Landscape Plan
	2f. Elevations
	2g. Traffic Analysis

	Business Item #1 General Plan Conformity.pdf
	Staff Report
	1a. Draft Resolution
	1b. Aerial Map
	1c. Conceptual Site Plan, Floor Plan & Elevations




